Evaluation of FAM26F in cancer using immunohistochemistry



MS Healthcare Biotechnology

By

Aaima Ayub

(00000327978)

Atta-ur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences

National University of Sciences and Technology, Islamabad, Pakistan

2023

Evaluation of FAM26F in brain cancer using immunohistochemistry



A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Masters of Science in Healthcare Biotechnology

By

Aaima Ayub

(00000327978)

MS HCB-2020

Supervisor: Dr. Aneela Javed

Atta-ur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences

National University of Sciences and Technology, Islamabad, Pakistan

2023

National University of Sciences & Technology

MS THESIS WORK

We hereby recommend that the dissertation prepared under our supervision by: <u>Aaima</u> Ayub, Reg No. 00000327978

Titled: Evaluation of FAM26F in cancer using immunohistochemistry be accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the award of <u>MS Degree in Healthcare</u> Biotechnology degree with (\hat{H} grade).

Examination Committee Members

1. Name: Dr. Rumeza Hanif

Signature:

Signature:

- 2. Name: Dr. Amjad Ali
- 3. Name: Dr. Ishaq N. Khan

Supervisor's name: Dr. Aneela Javed

. Sobia Manzoor 16-2-23

Head of Department Date

Signature: Date: 9-

16.2-23

Signature:

Date

COUNTERSIGNED

Deah/Prine

Date: 20-2-23



DECLARATION

I hereby declare that except where specific reference is made to the work of others, the content of this dissertation is original and have not been submitted in whole or in part for consideration for any other degree or qualification in this or any other University. This dissertation is the result of my own work and includes the outcome of the work done.

Signature of Student

Aaima Ayub

00000327978



THESIS ACCEPTANCE CERTIFICATE

Certified that the contents and form of thesis entitled "Evaluation of FAM26F in cancer using immunohistochemistry" submitted by Aaima Ayub have been found satisfactory for the requirement of the degree.



Dated: 20-2-23

iv

CS CamScanner

CERTIFICATE FOR PLAGIARISM

It is certified that MS Thesis titled "Evaluation of FAM26F in cancer using immunohistochemistry" submitted by Aaima Ayub has been examined,

I undertake the following:

a. The thesis has significant new work/knowledge as compared to already publish, or are under consideration to be published work. No sentence, equation, diagram, table, paragraph or section has been copied verbatim from previous work unless it is placed under quotation marks and duly referenced.

b. The work presented is original and own work of the author (i.e., there is no plagiarism). No ideas, processes, results, or words of others have been presented as the Author's own work.

c. There is no fabrication of data or results, which have been compiled/analyzed.

d. There is no falsification by manipulating research materials, equipment or processes, or changing or omitting data or results such that the research is not accurately represented in the research record.

e. The thesis has been checked using TURNITIN (copy of originality report attached) and found within the limits as per HEC plagiarism Policy and instructions issued from time to time.

Supervisor:

Dr. Aneela Javed

ASAB, NUST.



v

COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

- Copyright in the text of this thesis rests with the student Aaima Ayub. Copies (by any process) either in full, or of extracts may be made only in accordance with instructions given by the author and lodged in the library of Atta-ur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences (ASAB). Details may be obtained by the librarian. This page must find part of any such copies made further copies (by any process) may not be made without the permission (in writing) of the author.
- The ownership of any intellectual property rights which may be described in this thesis is vested in Atta-ur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences (ASAB) National University of Science and Technology (NUST), subject to any prior agreement to the contrary, and may not be made available for use by third parties without the written permission of the ASAB, which will describe the terms and condition of any such agreement.
- Further information on the conditions under which disclosures and exploitation may take place is available from the library of Atta-ur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences (ASAB), Islamabad.

I dedicate this thesis to my loving family for their unconditional support and encouragement

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

يستم اللهِ الرَّحْمَٰنِ الرَّحِيْمِ All and every praise to ALLAH Almighty for constantly bestowing his countless blessings upon and without his mercy and blessing I would not have been able to come this far in life.

First off, I would like to convey my sincere gratitude to my supervisor Dr. Aneela Javed for her support, attention, guidance, and cooperation throughout the research without whom this project would not have been accomplished. I am much obliged for her encouragement and valuable input which helped me in mastering the lab technique. Her superior knowledge, experience, and prompt supervision has made this research project possible. I am grateful for her time, spiritual and moral guidance, patience and encouragement.

I am grateful to Dr. Hussain A. Janjua, Principal ASAB and Dr. Sobia Manzoor, HOD Healthcare Biotechnology for providing the opportunity to execute my research work in a professional environment. My sincere regards and thanks to my GEC members Dr. Rumeza Hanif, Dr. Amjad Ali, and Dr. Ishaq N. Khan (KMU).

I sincerely appreciate Dr. Nuzhat from Northwest School of Medical, Peshawar, her lab staff and SINES, NUST for the technical support and guidance and extreme corporation in times of need.

I would also like to thank my friends Iqra, Sumaiya, Sarah, Rida, Ariba, Hajrah for always giving me courage and support in times of need, my kind seniors Maaza Sana, Samreen, Hamza Sher, Hafsa, Fareeha, Uzma for their guidance and my juniors Iman, Anam and Saman for all the support. I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my research partners and my most reliable friends Sabahat, and Momina for making this research a wondrous journey.

I am extremely grateful for my loving family as this journey would not have been possible without their unlimited and extraordinary love, support, prayers and encouragement.

Aaima Ayub MS Healthcare Biotechnology ASAB, NUST

Table of Contents

List	of Figure			xi
List	of Tables			xiii
List	of Abbrev	viations		xiv
Abst	ract			xvii
1.1		1. Inti	oduction	1
	1.1	1.1 O	ojectives:	
2.1		2. Lite	erature Review:	6
	2.1	Calcium Homeostasis:		
	2.2	ROS Production in The Immune Response: 8		
	2.3	ROS a	and Calcium Signaling: An Interplay:10	
	2.4	Calciu	m Signaling and ROS In Cancer:	
	2.5	Cance	r:	
	2.6	The Inflammatory Microenvironment of Cancer:		
	2.7	FAM2	26F: an Immune Modulator Involved In Cancer: 16	
	2.8	FAM2	26F Characterization:17	
	2.9	Calciu	m Signaling and FAM26F:17	
	2.10	FAM2	26F and anti-Tumor Pathways: 18	
3.1		3. Met	thodology:	21
	3.1	Immunohistochemical (IHC) Staining on Brain Samples:		
		3.1.1	Sample and data collection:	
		3.1.2	Study design:	
		3.1.3	Immunohistochemistry23	
	3.1.3.1		IHC pre requisites	23
	3.1.3.2		Microtome sectioning and fixation:	23
	3.1.3.3		Deparaffinization and Rehydration	23
	3.1.3.4		Antigen retrieval and washing:	24
	3.1.3.5		Blocking and washing:	24
	3.1.3.6		Primary antibody incubation and washing:	25
	3.1.3.7		Secondary antibody incubation and washing:	25
	3.1.3.8		Detection:	25
	3.1.3.9		Counterstain and dehydration	25
	3.1.3.10)	Visualization:	26

		3.1.4	Scoring scheme	
	3.2	3.2 In-	Silico Phylogenetic Analysis of FAM26F	
		3.2.1	Identifying protein domain through Python pipeline:	
	3.2.1.1		Retrieval of tORFs of organisms from NCBI Accession Ids':	28
	3.2.1.2		Retrieval of Protein Domains by Scanning Pfam Database:	28
	3.2.1.3		Retrieval of Domain Repertoires:	28
	3.2.1.4		Generation of Domain Matrix:	29
		3.2.2	Phylogenetic analysis and protein substitution model prediction using ProtTest:	
		3.2.3	Phylogenetic Analysis:	
	3.2.3.1		Ancestral state reconstruction:	30
	3.2.3.2		Character evolution:	30
4.1		4. Res	ults:	32
	4.1	FAM2	26F expression in various cancers:	
		4.1.1	Expression of FAM26F in Bladder carcinoma Tissues	
		4.1.2	Expression of FAM26F in GIT carcinoma Tissues	
		4.1.3	Expression of FAM26F in Breast cancer Tissues	
		4.1.4	Expression of FAM26F Prostate cancer tissues:	
		4.1.5	Expression of FAM26F Renal cancer tissues:	
	4.2	In-Sili	co Phylogenetic Analysis of FAM26F	
		4.2.1	Protein domain identification:	
	4.2.1.1	tORFs r	etrieval:	46
	4.2.1.2 Protein Domains from Pfam:4.2.1.3 Domain Repertoires retrieval:4.2.1.4 Generation of Domain Matrix:		46	
			46	
			46	
		4.2.2	4.2.2 Phylogenetic analysis:	
	4.2.2.1	Ancestr	al state reconstruction and character evolution:	47
	4.2.2.2	Evolutio	on of FAM26F domain ca_hom_mod:	47
	4.2.2.3 Domain evolution of interacting partners of FAM26F:		evolution of interacting partners of FAM26F:	49
	4.2.2.4	The Do	main Repertoire Events for CALHM6/FAM26F	51
	4.2.2.5	The Do	main Repertoire Events for CALHM6 and its Calcium Interacting Partr	iers 51
Discu	ssion:			53
5.1		Concl	usion	56
6.1		Refere	ences:	57

List of Figure

Figure 2.1 shows an overview of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and its proteins in			
regulating Ca2+ ion movement and signaling (Puzianowska-Kuznicka & Kuznicki,			
2009)			
Figure 2.10 shows an overview of the predicted pathway through which FAM26F targets			
tumor cell through IFN gamma production (Malik et al.,2017) 19			
Figure 3.10 shows an overview of the predicted pathway through which FAM26F targets			
tumor cell through IFN gamma production (Malik et al.,2017)			
Figure 4.1.2 shows diagrammatic overview of methodology			
Figure 5 3.2.3 Depicting the pipeline followed for phylogenetic analysis			
Figure 6 Graph shows expression of FAM26F in cancer positive samples. 2 samples had			
detectable expression while 18 were negative			
Figure 7 Bladder carcinoma tissues. HE stained slide of bladder tumour taken at 10X			
whereas (b) IHC stained slide of bladder tumour at 10x, (c) HE slide at 10 X (d) IHC			
slide at 40X, (e) IHC at 40X, (f) IHC at 40X			
Figure 8 Graph shows expression of FAM26F in cancer positive samples. 3 samples had			
detectable expression while none were negative			
Figure 9 Gastric Carcinoma tissues (a) HNE at 10X, b) IHC at 10X, c) IHC at 40x of GIT			
Carcinomas. Darkly stained color shows the expression of FAM26F whereas blue			
stain is attained by nuclei. HE slides are used to visualize the structure of tissue 36			
Figure 10 Post chemo Breast Cancer tissues HE slide at 10X of post chemo breast tissue,			
(b) IHC of post chemo breast tissues at 10 X and (c) IHC of post chemo breast			
tissues at 4x			

Figure 11 Breast Cancer Tissues (a) HE at 10x of breast cancer tissues, (b) IHC of breast
cancer tissues showing no expression at 10x. It is clearly observed that the IHC
staining score in breast cancer tissue is zero or very low. Which means that Fam26F
is suppressed in cancer as compared to normal tissues
Figure 12 Normal Breast tissues (a) 10X HE slide of normal breast tissue. (b) 10X IHC of
normal breast tissue, (c) 40X IHC slide of normal breast showing the expression of
FAM26F. In normal breast tissues, expression of FAM26F is shown with dark brown
stain
Figure 13 FAM26F expression in normal vs cancer vs post chemo breast tissues
Figure 14 Renal cancer Tissues. (a) HE slide of renal carcinoma at 10X, (b) IHC slide of
renal carcinoma at 10X, (c) 40X IHC slide of Renal carcinoma The expression of our
marker is high in renal carcinoma. Approximately the Immuno-staining score is 3. 44
Figure 15 Positive vs negative in Renal carcinoma tissues
Figure 16 iTOL tree showing domain gain (green box), loss (white), and duplication
(purple) events of CALHM6 only 49
Figure 17 iTOL tree showing domain gain (green box), loss (white), and duplication
(purple) events of CALHM6 along with its interacting partners
Figure 18 iTOL tree showing domain gain (green box), loss (white), and duplication
(purple) events of all the domains detected at the end of python pipeline

List of Tables

Table 2.1 shows the expression analysis of FAM26F in various cancers. 19
Table 2 General biopsies samples of cancers 22
Table 3 Immunohistochemical scoring is adopted from Allred Score 27
Table 4 Clinicopathological significance of FAM26F expression in bladder carcinoma 35
Table 5 Clinicopathological significance of gastric carcinomas 37
Table 6 Clinicopathological significance of FAM26F expression in breast tissues
Table 7 The intensity scoring of FAM26F expression in different cancer type according
to the allred scoring scheme

List of Abbreviations

8-oxodG	8-oxo-2'-deoxyguanosine
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
ASK1	Apoptosis signal regulating kinase 1
BEAST	Bayesian evolutionary analysis by sampling trees
Ca_hom_mod	Calcium Homeostasis Modulator
Ca^{+2}	Calcium
CNS	Central nervous system
DAB	3,3'-Diaminebenzidine
ER	endoplasmic reticulum
EGFR	Epidermal growth factor receptor
Ero1	ER oxidoreductases
FAM26F	Family with Sequence Similarity 26, Member F
gal-1	Galectin-1
GBM	Glioblastoma Multiforme
H2O2	Hydrogen peroxide
HIER	Heat induced epitope retrieval
HMM	Hidden Markov Model
HO ⁻	Hydroxyl Radicals
HO·	Hydroxyl radicle
HOCl	Hypochlorous acid
IFN	Interferon
IHC	Immunohistochemistry
IL	Interleukin
INAM	IRF-3-dependent NK-Activating Molecule
IP3	inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate
MAMs	Mitochondria associated membranes
IP3R	inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate receptors
MCC	Maximum clade credibility
MS	Mass Spectrometer

MSA	Multiple Sequence Alignment
mTOR	Mammalian target of rapamycin
NADPH	Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide Phosphate
NCBI	National Centre of Bio-Informatics
NF-κB	nuclear factor-ĸB
NK	Natural Killer
NOX5	NADPH oxidase 5
O2	Oxygen
02	Superoxide
PAMPs	pathogen associated molecular patterns
PDB	Protein Data Bank
PDIs	Protein disulfide isomerase
Pfam	Protein family database
PRRs	Pathogen recognition receptors
Prx4	Peroxiredoxin 4
PTEN	Phosphate and tensin homolog
RACCs	Receptor activated calcium channels
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RyR	Ryanodine receptors
SER	sarcoplasmic endoreticulum
SERCA	Sarco/endoplasmic reticulum calcium pump (SERCA)
SOD1	Superoxide dismutase 1
SOD2	Superoxide dismutase 2
STAT-1	Signal transducer and activator of transcription
TAMs	Tumor associated macrophages
TGF	Tumor growth factor
TLR	Toll like receptor
TME	tumor microenvironment
TNFα	Tumor necrosis factor alpha
tORFs	The open reading frames
Trx	Thioredoxin

VOCCs	Voltage operated calcium channels
WHO	World Health Organization

Abstract

Calcium (Ca2+) homeostasis is involved in various processes including in immune response and apoptosis. Changes in Ca2+ concentration stimulate various immune responses such as apoptosis through reactive oxygen species (ROS) production, especially in cancer. Calcium ion channels are involved in Ca2+ homeostasis and their expression may vary in cancer since calcium homeostasis and ROS production are reported to be interlinked. Tumor microenvironment studies have shown ROS to be involved in cancer promotion. International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) reported cancer fatalities to be 0.11 million in Pakistan hence showing their deadly nature. FAM26F (family with sequence similarity 26, member F) is one such calcium ion channel predicted to be differentially expressed in various cancers. Composed of a single domain Ca_hom_mod, FAM26F is involved in calcium regulation. Previously no attempt has been made to explore the expression of FAM26F in different types of various cancers, and its evolution. This leaves room for both, the investigation of the role of FAM26F in various tumors as well as its phylogenetic study to trace its evolution. The current study aims to answer the questions by 1) conducting immunohistochemical (IHC) analysis to observe the expression of FAM26F in different cancer samples, and 2) by employing a computational-based strategy to scan for the FAM26F domain events, integrating the data with a time-calibrated phylogenetic tree. 1) IHC on formalin fixed- paraffin embedded cancer biopsy samples displayed a varied expression of FAM26F depending on tissue type and cancer grade. A decrease in bladder and breast cancer was seen while an increase in FAM26F expression in renal, prostate, and gastric cancer was seen. 2) The evolutionary analysis identified around 4000 domains, and 14000 domain loss, duplication and loss events along with its

interacting partners. FAM26F evolution as well as the domain events of its interacting partners: Vinculin, Calpain, protein S100-A7, Thioredoxin, Peroxiredoxin and Calmodulin-like protein 5 were analyzed. Duplication events near higher eukaryotes showed its building complexity in function. Patterns of evolutionary events indicated possibility of co-evolution of CALHM6 with its interacting partner, advocating its role in calcium homeostasis and in related processes i.e cancer. Thus both IHC and the phylogenetic approach showed FAM26F to be differentially expressed in cancer.

Introduction

Tumor proliferation has been associated with the immune system for a long time and several studies give detailed insight into the function of inflammation in the tumor microenvironment (TME). There are two types of immune responses. One of the key features of innate immunity is the phenomenon of oxidative stress, which helps clear the infection by putting the cell in a highly oxidized state by the stimulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in a cascade of enzyme catalyzed reactions. ROS includes hydrogen peroxide, superoxide anion (O2-), hypochlorous acid (HOCl), and hydroxyl radical (HO•). Production of ROS is a strictly modulated process in the cell. Making sure the ROS are at low levels is essential for the normal execution of cellular procedures while the increase in levels takes the cell towards destruction by induction of apoptosis. This process is interlinked with calcium homeostasis. The Ca2+ levels in the intracellular matrix are vital in the induction of the ROS-producing pathway. Upon receiving the signal of stress, there is a rapid influx of Ca2+ from outside to inside of the cell through calcium channels, and from the calcium storage in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) to plasma. Mitochondria take in the calcium in order to proceed with an oxidative burst, resulting in ROS production. Their interplay is strengthened by the studies showing the increase in permeability of endothelial membranes to calcium by enzymes of the oxidative system and the increase in ROS production by calcium.

High levels of ROS are associated with apoptosis in cells. Different concepts describe the role ROS plays in clearance or promotion of the cancer cells. It is suggested that in the presence of exogenous ROS yielding agents, their level in tumor cell increases drastically compared to that in normal cells. This may steer the cell towards death (Wang & Yi, 2008).

Chapter 1

Introduction

The second hypothesis states that if the ratio of ROS to antioxidants is disrupted and ROS level increase exceeds normal level, this will lead to either sensitivity to cancer therapy or of apoptosis and clearance of tumor cell (Kong et al., 2000). However, there is a delicate regulation carried out by cancer cells that allows them to increase their oxidative state by increased production of ROS to help immune suppression, cancer cell proliferation and angiogenesis, whilst avoiding cell death (Costa et al., 2014; Olivier et al., 2021; Reczek & Chandel, 2018).

Cancers consist of primary tumors that initiate in the organ and secondary tumors which are initiated by cancers starting in any other part of the body. Central nervous system cancer is the 10th leading cause of death around the world with 3.4% mortality in Pakistan in 2020, of which brain tumors account for 85% to 90%. Although malignant brain tumors account for 1-2% of all cancers, they are the deadliest form of cancer and the most strenous to treat. Bladder cancer is the type of cancer which originates from the cells of the bladder and is common in females while in men it is fourth most common type of cancer (Lenis et al., 2020). It may be unaggressive and non-invasive type of cancer that can transform into invasive and aggressive one cancer (Lenis et al., 2020). Gastric cancer is the cancer of stomach which is the 5th most common kind of tumor worldwide while 3rd in rank for cause of death (Smythe et al., 2020). Breast cancer continues to be global concern with highest incidence among females cancers in Pakistan. Cancer starting in prostate is called prostate cancer gland renal cancer and is second most common cancer found to be in males and fifth cause of death (Rawla et al., 2019). Renal cancer is found in cells in kidney tubules (Rossi et al., 2018).

Introduction

Inflammation is reported to play a key role in promoting the progression of cancer. The TME of tumors is maintained by a complex signaling network between cells, immune cells, and normal tissues through cytokines (Sowers et al., 2014). Various cytokines and chemoattractants engage with immune cells to bring them to the tumor environment. The infiltrating immune cells such as eosinophils, neutrophils, macrophages, and T lymphocytes release inflammatory mediators that assist tumor angiogenesis, invasion, and proliferation and escalate oxidative damage to DNA. Cytokines namely interleukins, and tumor growth factors (TGF) among others cause the immune cells to become pro-tumor by engaging in the process like inhibition of macrophages and dendritic cells activation, apoptosis of T lymphocytes, and metastasis (Alghamri et al., 2021).

Cytokines such as interleukin-10 (IL-10), IL-6, galectin-1 (gal-1), and TGF-beta reprogram the infiltrating immune cells in such a way that they attain a pro-tumor phenotype. For example, IL-10 inhibits macrophage and dendritic cell action and inhibits the activation of T-cells while gal-1 induces T-cell apoptosis and increases the migration of cancer cells. Cytokines also stimulate the macrophages to conduct oxidative bursts resulting in ROS production. ROS interacts with lipids, nucleic acids, and proteins causing a plethora of changes and damages all contributing towards tumorigenesis. Moreover, TME has been reported to have elevated levels of epithelial growth factor receptors (EGFR) compared to healthy tissues. EGFR stimulates ROS production hence increasing oxidative stress (Jaros et al., 1992). ROS causes DNA damage leading to mutations and an increase in cytokine and chemokine production contributing to immune cell penetration. It also renders the immune cells useless against cancer and even makes them promote tumor growth.

Introduction

FAM26F is a relatively new name in the world of immune system proteins. It is a transmembrane protein, with a pore-forming channel that allows the movement of ions from across the membranes (Malik & Javed, 2016). Extensive in silico and experimental analysis have led to the belief that FAM26F is actively involved in Ca2+ homeostasis, by allowing the accumulation of ions in the cell from the Golgi apparatus, ER, and outside the cell, acting as a part of innate immunity (Malik et al., 2017). It leads to an oxidative burst where the threat is cleared by the production of ROS. Hence, FAM26F helps in creating an oxidative environment for cells.

The expression of FAM26F has been found to have a link with Calcium signaling, and ROS production leading to oxidative bursts by the immune system (Malik et al., 2020). Furthermore, this ROS and Ca2+ interplay is closely regulated by the cell, and even more cleverly utilized by cancer cells to aid their proliferation and survival. This leads to the need of identifying the exact kind of role FAM26F may have in cancer, particularly in brain cancer which is yet to be studied. Preliminary studies on cancer cell lines have revealed a differential expression of FAM26F in each type of cancer; a breast cancer cell line (MCF-7), a brain tumor cell line (U87), and a non-cancerous cell line (not published). The current study aims to explore this finding in brain cancer biopsy samples by employing the technique of immunohistochemistry to observe FAM26F expression by its antibody. The data gathered from different stages of brain cancer, and also in those undergoing treatment, will enable the elucidation of FAM26F expression. Moreover, an in-depth character evolution analysis to trace the domain gain/loss/duplication events in FAM26F protein across various species will be carried out to identify the pattern of its evolution using

various bioinformatics tools. The ultimate goal is to gain a deep insight into the expression, evolution as well as the interaction of the immune modulator protein FAM26F.

1.1 1.1 Objectives:

The objectives of this research include:

- Analyzing the expression of this protein in various cancer biopsies via IHC (Immunohistochemistry).
- Evolutionary study of FAM26F over the range of species for analysis of its' domain.

Literature Review:

2.1 Calcium Homeostasis:

Calcium is an important messenger in the cellular process which is involved in the regulation of several cellular processes including metabolism, gene expression, cell death, and cell survival (Berridge, 2012).

The ions enter through calcium channels, transmembrane proteins, in the presence of any extracellular stress (Görlach et al., 2015). Different types of movements of calcium through transmembrane proteins occur depending on the requirement. The calcium that enters is through channels either receptor-operated or voltage-dependent devoid of energy requirement. Calcium pumps, on the other hand, require ATP to transport calcium. Inside the cell calcium uses Sarco/endoplasmic reticulum calcium pump (SERCA) to move to the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), while it is released through two kinds of receptors: ryanodine receptors (RyR) and inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate receptors (IP3R). The calcium uptake by the mitochondria is electrogenic in nature where voltage developed in the respiratory chain aids the movement (Berridge, 2012; Görlach et al., 2015).

Calcium homeostasis is vital in conducting various processes in the body such as the contraction and relaxation by smooth, cardiac, and skeletal cells, programmed cell death (apoptosis), exocytosis, nerve transmission by nerve cells, and in the immune system among others (Feher, 2017). In the immune system calcium, ion levels can regulate various responses including antibody secretion by B-cells, pathogen clearance by neutrophils, and apoptosis by ROS production (Feher, 2017; Grinstein & Klip, 1989; Puzianowska-Kuznicka & Kuznicki, 2009). This means that even the slightest abnormality in the Ca2+

levels in the cells can have drastic effects, hence various key players play their part in carrying a strict regulation of Ca2+ levels. These involve calcium channels, pumps, binding proteins, exchangers, and buffers which maintain a suitable Ca2+ level by its movement between plasma membrane, intracellular calcium stores e.g mitochondria and endoplasmic reticulum (ER), and cytoplasm.



Figure 2.1 shows an overview of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and its proteins in regulating Ca2+ ion movement and signaling (Puzianowska-Kuznicka & Kuznicki, 2009).

Sarco-endoplasmic reticulum Ca2+ ATPases (SERCA) are examples of calcium pumps, while calcium-binding proteins include calmodulin etc. There are two main types of Ca2+ channels: receptor-activated calcium channels (RACCs) and voltage-operated calcium channels (VOCCs) (Puzianowska-Kuznicka & Kuznicki, 2009). Different types of RACCs such as inositol-1,4,5-triphosphate (IP3) receptors (IP3Rs) and ryanodine receptors (RyRs) which release calcium ions, while VOCCs have further ten members, all serving a specific function (Feher, 2017; Grinstein & Klip, 1989; Puzianowska-Kuznicka & Kuznicki, 2009).

Since all these proteins are working together, they have structural similarities, and tracing these similarities through evolutionary studies can give valuable insight into their evolutionary past (Bordin et al., 2021). Evolutionary analysis carried out by Case et al. discussed in detail the possibility of Ca2+ ion channels being the very first types of ion channels to be developed by prokaryotes to filter ions as they tried to survive at the start of life (Case et al., 2007). This argument is strengthened by the finding that calcium ion channels are the oldest phylogenetically and are present across many prokaryotes compared to other channels (Case et al., 2007). Its evolution in eukaryotic organisms is suspected to be through the endosymbiotic relationship developed between Ca2+ ion channel-carrying protobacterium, rickettsia, and early eukaryotic cells (Andersson et al., 1998; Case et al., 2007). These evolved into calcium ion-carrying organelle, mitochondria (Andersson et al., 1998). Gradually as time progressed, these calcium channels developed according to the requirement of the environment, and more complex processes needing calcium homeostasis such as apoptosis and exocytosis also developed (Case et al., 2007).

2.2 ROS Production in The Immune Response:

The human immune system consists of a wide range of cellular compounds, cells, chemicals, and complex pathways that work in synergy to mediate immunity and provide protection against any foreign antigen that may pose a threat to the body such as viruses, bacteria, parasites, fungi, and cancer. There are two main categories of the immune system: innate immune system and adaptive immune system. The innate immune system is the first line of defense for the human body where dendritic cells and macrophages recognize the particular molecular patterns of the pathogen, unique pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), through specific pathogen recognition receptors (PRRs) (Taganov et al., 2006). The binding of receptors with their respective antigen leads to the activation of a broad spectrum of signaling cascade which ultimately augments the inflammatory and

Literature Review

acquired immune system (Li et al., 2011; Taganov et al., 2006). The requirement of an adaptive immune system is a specific type of immunity that develops a targeted response to foreign antigens and is regulated by lymphocytes mainly T-cells and B-cells (Howell & Shepherd, 2021).

Immune pathways are activated in a dire situation leading to phagocytosis and clearance of pathogen, one of which is the mechanism of oxidative burst which involves the production of certain agents called "reactive oxygen species" (ROS) (Kohchi et al., 2009; Matsuzawa et al., 2005). ROS production is a potent antimicrobial defensive mechanism and a prime component of innate immunity (Nguyen et al., 2017). Oxidative burst is the conversion of oxygen (O2) to superoxide (O2 \cdot -) and its dismutation to form ROS such as hydroxyl radicle (HO·), hypochlorous acid (HOCl), and hydrogen peroxide (H2O2) through non-enzymatic and enzymatic reactions and is thoroughly regulated in the body by antioxidative enzymes which inactivate the ROS (Babior et al., 1976; Dupré-Crochet et al., 2013). Superoxide (O2• -) is formed during respiration from Oxygen due to electron leakage, primarily through the involvement of Complex I and Complex III. From there it is likely to be converted to H2O2 which is more stable, less reactive, and diffuses more readily. This occurs either by superoxide dismutase 1 (SOD1) in the intermembrane space, spontaneously, or by matrix manganese SOD2, and the resultant H2O2 acts as a redox second messenger. These all are reactive oxygen species (ROS) that react with proteins, lipids, and nucleic acid to stimulate numerous processes which may lead to genetic mutations and the onset of cancer. If excessive ROS is produced then this can lead to damage to essential cellular processes like cell signaling and metabolism along with genomic processes. The alteration in metabolism is usually lethal to a normal cell however neoplastic cell uses it to advantage and promote immune system suppression and ensure their own survival (Sowers et al., 2014)

Different levels of ROS in cells may induce different responses. ROS help in sustaining cellular proliferation, and stress response survival at low to moderate levels, and may also work as signal transduction molecules involved in starting pro-inflammatory response by inducing cytokines and nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B) pathway (Gorrini et al., 2013). Hence the production and regulation of reactive oxygen species is a highly regulated process and essential to maintaining the normal functions of a cell (Kohchi et al., 2009).

2.3 ROS and Calcium Signaling: An Interplay:

In ROS production, calcium uptake by the mitochondria is a vital step (Tan et al., 1998). During an immune response, the immune redox status of the cell shifts towards a more oxidized state, aided by the production of ROS. It involves a rapid movement of Calcium ions inside the cell from extracellular space, from the endoplasmic reticulum and sarcoplasmic reticulum through the respective membranes. This increased cytoplasmic concentration of Ca2+ causes nuclear and mitochondrial uptake of the ions, and subsequent pathway activation in mitochondria which leads to the production of ROS and clearance of stress (Ermak & Davies, 2002). The endothelial cells' permeability to Calcium ions may also be increased by NADPH oxidase 5 (NOX5), an important enzyme in the oxidative burst, which further indicates the synergistic relation between Calcium influx and ROS production. Calcium homeostasis and ROS production is a bidirectional interaction in which Calcium is needed for ROS production and ROS are involved in the regulation of calcium signaling (Di et al., 2016; Gordeeva et al., 2003).

10

Literature Review

2.4 Calcium Signaling and ROS In Cancer:

The association of reactive oxygen species production in cancer has long been an understudy. Increased levels of ROS in cancer cells compared to normal cells have been reported which aid cancer cells in their proliferation, survival, and growth (Szatrowski & Nathan, 1991). Despite the genomic instability and damage to DNA, lipids, and proteins brought about by high levels of ROS, they play a role as signaling molecules in cancer cells (Ames et al., 1993). Cancer cells acquire specific oncogenic mutations, increase metabolism, and get rid of a tumor suppressor to escalate the rate of ROS production to activate the protumorigenic pathways. However, this process is highly regulated as extremely elevated levels of ROS in the cell can lead to increased oxidative stress and ultimately cell death (Sabharwal & Schumacker, 2014). To balance the two processes, cancer cells increase their capacity of antioxidants to maintain the ROS levels at a scale that allows for protumorigenic processes without killing the cell (Reczek & Chandel, 2017, 2018). The interplay between Calcium and ROS has been described in various disease models. In the cardiovascular system, the dynamic between Ros and Ca2+ leads to cell death during cardiac ischemia (Webster, 2012). Furthermore, apart from apoptosis, this Ca2+ - Ros interaction plays a role in the regulation of many different cellular events, especially more so since the location of calcium storage inside the cell and the sites where ROS is produced i.e the plasma membrane and ER-mitochondrial interface, are linked closely (Giorgi et al., 2009).

Strict regulation of calcium homeostasis is done by the cell through ion pumps, ion channels, and ion exchangers. Mitochondria are actively involved in the mitochondrial matrix Ca2+ homeostasis and studies suggest that ROS production by mitochondria also

aids pro-tumorigenic redox signaling and autophagy. At the regions where mitochondria and ER are close to one another, there are domains present called mitochondria-associated membranes (MAMs). Ca2+ influx occurs in the mitochondria through these sites while ER is intrinsically source of Ca2+ storage and cellular ROS. The protein folding process which occurs in ER and causes the more oxidative environment of ER compared to cytoplasm also results in H2O2 production (Cao & Kaufman, 2014). The enzymes Protein disulfide isomerases (PDIs) and ER oxidoreductases (Ero1) exchange their disulfide bonds. Electrons are reverse shuttled to Ero1 from PDI. Molecular oxygen is reduced to make H2O2. This is one of the pathways. Another pathway that is independent of Ero1 involves Peroxiredoxin 4 (Prx4) in the endoplasmic reticulum lumen. Apart from these, one pathway involves p66shc which is a ROS-producing protein and redox sensor, and is involved in cancer progression. Proceeding a pro-apoptotic signal like apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 (ASK1) activating, p66shc is moved to MAMs where it interacts with cytochrome c and as a result of this ROS is produced (Giorgio et al., 2005). P66shc is actively involved in the development of cancer, with its overexpression studies, which results in increased ROS levels and proliferation of the cell. There are many drivers of ROS production by mitochondria during normal and pathophysiological conditions such as hypoxia, hyperoxia, and signaling of oncogenes and cytokines including those in the mTOR pathway and G (Bhat et al., 2015; Hempel & Trebak, 2017). Calcium dysregulation is one of main drivers of ROS production and cancer survival.

Literature Review

2.5 Cancer:

Cancer refers to a group of diseases characterized by the uncontrolled growth of abnormal cells in the body and is one of the major causes of mortality and morbidity around the globe.

Bladder cancer is the type of cancer which originates from the cells of the bladder and is common in females while in men it is fourth most common type of cancer (Lenis et al., 2020). It may be unaggressive and non-invasive type of cancer that can transform into invasive and aggressive one cancer (Lenis et al., 2020). Deaths due to bladder cancer ranks Pakistan at #82 across globe while death rate is 2.19 per 100,000 population (Youn et al., 2020). The bladder system, like all other systems of body, require well-regulated calcium homeostasis for proper conducting of cell proliferation etc. While a higher than normal amount of calcium ions acts as a trigger for apoptosis, disturbance in calcium regulation is recognized as a cancer feature (Zheng et al., 2022). Cancer cells can undergo apoptosis due to starvation, and calcium channels are reported to protect them from starvation by altering Ca2+ from ER (Zheng et al., 2022). It is also been reported to be involved in bladder malignancy, a cancer of the urinary tract, where calcium channels play a significant part (Ceylan et al., 2016).

Gastric cancer is the cancer of stomach which is the 5^{th} most common kind of tumor worldwide while 3^{rd} in rank for cause of death (Smythe et al., 2020). While in Pakistan it comprises 0.28% deaths and 2.97 death rate per 100,000 of population (Smythe et al., 2020). In both genders it was found to be most common cancer (Ahmad et al., 2016). The abnormal increase in Ca2+ movement inside cancer cell has been observed in prostate, breast and gastric cancer, due to aberrant expression of proteins of calcium homeostasis such as IP3R and SERCA (Gélébart et al., 2002; Marchi & Pinton, 2016).

Central nervous system (CNS) cancer is the heterogenous growth around CNS and brain and remains the 10th leading cause of death around the world with 3.4% mortality in Pakistan in 2020, of which brain tumors account for 85% to 90% (Quader et al., 2022). Brain cancers consist of primary tumors and secondary brain tumors. Primary tumors of the brain may be rare but they are lethal with high morbidity and mortality (Darlix et al., 2017). These may start from the neuroepithelial tissues, meninges, pituitary structure, neuroepithelial tissues, and cranial nerves among other sources. Although malignant brain tumors account for 1-2% of all cancers, they are the deadliest form of cancer and the most difficult to treat (Quader et al., 2022).

Breast cancer continues to be global concern with highest incidence among females cancers in Pakistan. Breast cancer also has reports of calcium homeostasis being a key player in cancer proliferation. After some studies conducted which showed association between hypercalecimia and renal cancer, comparatively recent studies have reported a role of calcium homeostasis alteration in contributing to renal cancer (Carmeliet et al., 2003; Luo et al., 2020).

2.6 The Inflammatory Microenvironment of Cancer:

Tumor cells, normal cells, and cells of the immune system engage in a cross-talk by utilizing a complex cytokine network in the tumor microenvironment which aids cancer proliferation, making it immunosuppressive. Cancer was linked with calcium first in the nineteenth century, makes other cells more liable to cancer, and it is now considered as a feature essential to cancer progression.

The cells of the immune system and its mediators act as a crucial part of the TME such as helping cancer cells evading immune system. (Guo et al., 2016). In the case of secondary cancer development, the tumor formed in another part of the body translocates from its primary tumor site to the bloodstream i.e carrying out intravasation. Here the cells of the immune system, tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), chemokines, and cytokines, play a significant role in recruiting leukocytes to tumor site and help cancer and neovascularization (Guo et al., 2016; Keibel et al., n.d.). Cytokines are small multifunctional proteins that play a significant role in the TME by controlling proliferation, neo-angiogenesis, and immune cell penetration in autocrine and paracrine manners which cause anomalies (Zhu et al., 2012). Especially in case of brain cancer, those cancer cells enter the brain vasculature, cytokines were found to aid their site-specific behavior (Berghoff & Preusser, 2015). Cytokines stimulated macrophages to carry out oxidative burst phenomenon. ROS levels are carefully maintained in the cell, especially at the tumor site, so high amounts of ROS end up protecting the cancer cells from being destroyed by apoptosis.

The oxidative environment in cell causes Phosphate and Tensin homolog (PTEN) gene to become mutated and often loose its function which contributes in ROS levels elevation and this was reported in many cancers including brain and prostate cancers (Jamaspishvili et al., 2018; Jaros et al., 1992).). The oxidization of PTEN by ROS causes loss of PTEN tumor suppressor activity (Lee et al., 2002). High levels of epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) were also reported in bladder, breast, and brain cancer which aided their

progression (Ali & Wendt, 2017; Wang et al., 2020). High levels of EGFR increase ROS formed inside the cancer cell contributing to DNA damage. DNA damage by ROS includes the formation of extensively studied product, 8-oxo-2'-deoxyguanosine (8-oxodG), created due to damage inflicted on DNA by ROS and found to be twice the amount in brain tumor cells compared to normal brain tissues (Butkowski, 2020). Elevated 8-oxodG is associated with H2AX (phosphorylated histones) and induces DNA damage response that gives a signal to tumor protein (p53). A mutated version of EGFR, EGFRvIII has also been found to have elevate 8-oxodG (Sowers et al., 2014).

2.7 FAM26F: an Immune Modulator Involved In Cancer:

The immune system has a complex network operated by cells, molecules, and chemical pathways that govern the defense mechanism of the body in case of any threat. Proteins are a key player in this system through regulation of the network through a plethora of actions including their behavior as transcriptional regulators, receptors, and importantly, as signaling molecules to generate a diverse and effective immune response. One such protein is the relatively recently discovered protein named FAM26F.

Originally called IRF-3–dependent NK-activating molecule (INAM), FAM26F is from the FAM26 gene family, also known as the calcium homeostasis modulator family (Ebihara et al., 2010). The family constitutes of total six genes with 20-50% sequence similarity among themselves, and are located as two clusters on different chromosomes: chromosome 10 and chromosome 6 (Foskett, 2020; Ma et al., 2016). Found on chromosome 6, FAM26F or CALHM6 has gained much identification with having a critical immune relevance when it was studied in various infections, cancer, immune pathogenesis, and simulation studies (Malik & Javed, 2016). Functional and whole transcriptome analyses have discovered

FAM26F to be differentially expressed in various scenarios, indicating its involvement in an immune response. Zhang et al. studied the activation of macrophages by cytokines in 2010 and reported that FAM26F is induced by interferon-gamma (IFN- γ), interferon beta (IFN-B), and IL-10. In the same year, he and co-workers showed FAM26F to be upregulated by IFN in human hepatocytes. This led to the potential of it's role in more conditions.

2.8 FAM26F Characterization:

Malik et al. carried out an elaborate study to characterize FAM26F structure as well as involvement in the body using various in-silico tools. They carried out its localization, 3D structures, phylogenetic analysis across various species and its domain and motif. FAM26F was reported to be a single domain protein, with Ca_hom_mod domain, suggested to be involved in calcium homeostasis among other biological pathways. Evolutionary analysis concluded FAM26F to be considerably conserved and closely related to that of primates (Malik et al., 2017). The group reported it to be a pore forming unit of voltage gated ion channel which was involved in bringing about oxidative stress in the cell through allowing movement of calcium ions through it and stimulating ROS production. Through co-localization studies, Malik and group shortlisted these proteins to be present with FAM26F: Thioredoxin, Calmodulin-like protein5, Vinculin, Calpain, and Protein S100-A7 (Malik et al., 2020).

2.9 Calcium Signaling and FAM26F:

FAM26F is thought to be a part of a voltage-operated ion channel that forms pores and has a calcium homeostasis modulator domain. The presence of this domain leads to FAM26F being actively involved in the essential process of oxidative burst.
As discussed earlier, Calcium homeostasis is linked to ROS production Görlach et al 2015, which in turn has an extensive role in cell survival, apoptosis, as well as tumor progression (Görlach et al., 2015). Another player of this system is thioredoxin (Trx) which is associated with decreasing the ROS levels in the cell and establishing a reduced environment in the case of a respiratory burst occurring in a normal cell (Holmgren & Lu, 2010; Jones et al., 2006; Lillig & Holmgren, 2007; Saraiva et al., 2002). An increase in Calcium and ROS levels during extracellular threat causes stress to ER, which stimulates a transfer of FAM26F from Golgi apparatus, where it is believed to be usually present, into ER as part of the innate immunity.

2.10 FAM26F and anti-Tumor Pathways:

FAM26F has been found to be involved in cancer and anti-tumor processes. Joosse et al. reported in 2009 that the regions of the genome particularly 6q22.1 which was carrying FAM26F were deleted in BRCA2-associated breast cancers (Joosse et al., 2009). FAM26F was found to have differential expression in various cancers such as breast, cervix, mammary gland, and uterus, which were found using micro-array studies and added in Atlas Data (Mosca et al., 2010). The protein was also speculated to be potentially linked to having a clinical advantage in the treatment of metastatic melanoma through immune-based MAGE-A3 therapy. FAM26F was concluded to be simulated by IFN-gamma through the STAT-1 pathway (Ulloa-Montoya et al., 2013). Subsequently, Takashi and his co-workers reported FAM26F to be a molecule derived from a toll-like receptor (TLR) which can potentially mediate the Natural Killer cells and myeloid dendritic cell interaction . This led to the theory that FAM26F expression may have a key significance against NK-

sensitive and IFN-gamma suppressible tumors. The activation and downstream anti-tumor properties of FAM26F are documented in the table.

Study Type	Mode of study	Expression	Sample	Reference
Breast		Deleted in BRCA2 associated breast tumors	Breast tumors	(Stefansson et al., 2009)
Breast, mammary gland, cervix, and uterus	in vitro	Differential expression	Atlas Data	(Mosca et al., 2010)
Metastatic melanoma	in vitro	Increased	Melanoma biopsies from 75 patients with non-resectable MAGE-A3- positive stage III or IV M1a metastatic melanoma	(Ulloa- Montoya et al., 2013)
B16D8 tumor	in vivo	Increased	B16D8 tumor bearing mice	(Ebihara et al., 2010)

Table 2.1 shows the expression analysis of FAM26F in various cancers.

For gaining a deeper insight into the anti-tumor pathways of FAM26F, numerous mice model studies were conducted. FAM26F stimulation depends on TICAM-1 and IRF-3 as evidenced by the absence of a proper NK cytotoxicity in TICAM-1-/-or IRF3-/- knockout mDC. FAM26F was shown to be assisting the mDC-NK activation, crucial for NK cell activation, hence strengthening the argument that its expression and ability to stimulate NK cells could be vital in targeting the neoplastic cells that are NK sensitive. Moreover,

Figure 2.10 shows an overview of the predicted pathway through which FAM26F targets tumor cell through IFN gamma production (Malik et al.,2017)

Figure 3.10 shows an overview of the predicted pathway through which FAM26F targets tumor cell through IFN gamma production (Malik et al.,2017)

Literature Review

activated FAM26F triggers them to release IFN- γ , which could potentially be used in targeting tumors suppressible by IFN- γ (Chiba et al., 2014).

Immunohistochemistry or IHC on cancer is commonly applied method to detect specific proteins and antigens in a biopsy tissue through polyclonal or monoclonal antibodies. It yields accurate results in detecting a certain type of protein with least amount of damage to original tissue. The detection is based on interaction between antigen and antibody which is traced by fluorescent dyes, radioactive substances or enzyme substrate color changes (Duraiyan et al., 2012). It can have samples in various forms including formalin-fixed paraffin embedded biopsy tissues, and fresh tissues. For cancer detection, IHC uses antibodies against protein markers specific to certain types of cancers however this study is focused on detecting the expression of FAM26F in brain cancer samples so anti-FAM26F antibody is used. With time this technique has established itself to be essential in histopathological studies and an important tool in diagnostic and research studies.



Methodology:

3.1 Immunohistochemical (IHC) Staining on Brain Samples:

IHC is a commonly applied technique that makes use of enzymes conjugated to Antibodies to catalyze reactions and accurately locate and visualize antigens in the specific tissue samples.

3.1.1 Sample and data collection:

Tissues/biopsies of patients suffering from brain, breast, bladder, gastric, prostate and renal cancers were resected surgically and were selected to be included as part of the study. Total of 61 blocks of Formalin fixed paraffin embedded (FFPE), which included 20 blocks of brain cancer, 9 of breast cancer, 20 of bladder, 3 of gastric carcinoma, 5 of prostate and 4 of renal cancers, were provided by Northwest School of Medicine. The

MATERIALS	REAGENTS
• Fixative coated slides	Ethanol concentrations (100%, 90%, 70%, 50% and 30%)
• Microtome	o Xylene
• Water bath	o Tween20
o Slide holder	o Distilled water
o Microwave	○ BSA
○ 7 boxes	○ Sodium eitrate buffer
o Tweezer	o H2O2
• Microwavable container	\circ 100% methanol
• Cover slips	o Primary Antibody
• Tissue paper	 Secondary Antibody
• Covered tray	• DAB substrate
	• Organic mounting media

tissues were sectioned to thickness of 3-5um and blocks were labelled properly with their respective ID's.

Biopsies Type	Sample number
Brain cancer	20
Bladder cancer	20
Breast cancer	9
Renal cancer	4
Prostate Cancer	5
Gastric Cancer	3

Table 2 General biopsies samples of cancers

3.1.2 Study design:

The cancer samples and control tissues were obtained from Northwest School of Medicine, Peshawar and were grouped according to the organ they were from. Immunohistochemistry was performed on all the formalin fixed paraffin embedded tissues by sectioning them with a microtome, subjecting them to heat induced antigen retrieval to expose the proteins and incubating them with anti-human anti-FAM26F antibody following with an appropriate detection system. The results were observed under a microscope and were analyzed through statistics to infer the relation between FAM26F expression and cancer.



Figure 4.1.2 shows diagrammatic overview of methodology

3.1.3 Immunohistochemistry

3.1.3.1 IHC pre requisites

The reagents and materials needed for IHC are mentioned in the table below:

3.1.3.2 Microtome sectioning and fixation:

The process starts with careful sectioning of tissue about 3-5um thick using a rotatory microtome. The thin section is floated on tap water prior to floating it on 42 C water bath and mounted on glass slides. Slides were coated with albumin-glycerol fixative before mounting to adhere tissue sections properly on the slide and prevent it from detaching during the IHC procedure. The tissue is fixed onto the slide by incubating it on a hotplate at 65 degrees for 20 minutes. This makes sure tissue maintains its structure and antigenicity is retained.

3.1.3.3 Deparaffinization and Rehydration

The tissue fixated on slides was deparaffinized by placing it in 2 changes of xylene solution, 10 minutes each. It is a common deparaffinized agent used in IHC as it completely removes paraffin wax that has penetrated deep into the tissues. The xylene is further removed by incubating the slides in a decreasing concentration of alcohol as follows:

Percentage of ethanol (%)	Time (minutes)
100% ethanol	5 minutes
90% ethanol	2 minutes
70% ethanol	1 minute
50% ethanol	1 minute

30% ethanol	1 minute
The slides were then washed by placing the	container with a slide holder containing slides
under running tap water, in a way that water	doesn't directly hit the tissue, for 1-2 minutes.
The tissue will seem like white discs on the	he slide. Now the tissue is ready for antigen
retrieval. From this point onwards the tissu	e should not be allowed to dry out as it will
cause increased non-specific binding of the	antibody.

3.1.3.4 Antigen retrieval and washing:

Antigen or epitope retrieval is one of the most critical steps in ensuring proper IHC staining. One factor that can lead to the loss of immunoreactivity of antigens is the fixation process. Crosslinking of proteins and masking of epitope sites can cause epitopes to become unreactive and hence no antibody-specific staining. This necessitates the epitope retrieval process to reverse the process of masking.

The process of heat-induced epitope retrieval (HIER) was carried out. The antigen retrieval buffer prepared was sodium citrate buffer with pH 6.0. A microwavable container was taken and half-filled with buffer in a way that slides were completely covered and loosely caped before microwaving it for 8-10 minutes and letting it rest for 30-35 minutes at room temperature. It was washed with distilled water thoroughly.

3.1.3.5 Blocking and washing:

The slides are marked by a hydrophobic marker around the edges to make sure the liquid covers the tissue. The slides proceeded to the Blocking step to remove any chances of false positive staining. The blocking solution (2% H2O2, 20% Methanol) is prepared with 6ul of 35% H2O2, 80ul H2O, and 20ul Methanol to make 100ul solution per slide. The slides are placed in a dark humidity chamber (created with water at the bottom of a tray and

placing slides above it to minimize evaporation of buffer) for 3-5 minutes. After washing slides, BSA Blocking for 10 minutes was done and washed off.

3.1.3.6 Primary antibody incubation and washing:

The slides are now ready for primary antibody binding. Anti-FAM26F anti-rabbit polyclonal antibody was used in a 1:100 ratio of dilution. Diluent was prepared with BSA and PBS. 100ul of dilution was applied and incubated for 1 hour at room temperature in a humidity chamber. The slides were washed afterward.

3.1.3.7 Secondary antibody incubation and washing:

After the primary antibody, horseradish peroxidase HRP labeled secondary antibody dilution was applied to each section. It was incubated for 40 minutes in a dark humidity chamber at room temperature. The same diluent was used in the mentioned ratio. It was washed afterwards thoroughly.

3.1.3.8 Detection:

Visualization of the antigen expression in the microscope requires proper staining which is achieved by Diaminobenzidine (DAB) substrate from a DAB staining kit. Fresh dilution of DAB was prepared every time with no more than 10 minutes before staining (50ul chromogen in 1000ul substrate buffer). It was incubated for 5-10 minutes at room temperature in a humidity chamber and washed afterward.

3.1.3.9 Counterstain and dehydration

The counterstain with hematoxylin to stain the nucleus for clear visualization of cells was carried out with subsequent dehydration with alcohol in the manner mentioned below. The

Chapter 3

slide was completely dried after ethanol dips and then dipped in xylene before mounting the coverslip with help of mounting media.

Reagent	Time (minutes)
Hematoxylin	1-2 minutes
Tap water	Till clear
1% acid-alcohol	1 dip only
Tap water	Till clear
50% ethanol	1-2 minutes
90% ethanol	1-2 minutes
100% ethanol	1-2 minutes
Xylene	1-5 minutes

3.1.3.10 Visualization:

The slides were visualized by using a Laborned TCM400 inverted microscope (Optika Microbiology Italy) and the pictures of stained sections were captured using Optika version light 2.1. Lastly, the stained sections were scored high, moderate, or low protein expression based on the intensity of the stain.

3.1.4 Scoring scheme

Based on the level of expression of FAM26F in cancer samples, following scoring scheme mentioned in table was applied (Fedchenko et al., 2014).

Proportion score A	Positive cells, %	Intensity	Intensity score B
0	0	None	0
1	<1	Weak	1
2	1 to 10	Intermediate	2
3	11 to 33	Strong	3
4	34 to 66	E' 1	$(\mathbf{A} + \mathbf{D}) = 0$
5	≥67	r inal score range	e (A + B): 0-8

Table 3 Immunohistochemical scoring is adopted from Allred Score

3.2 3.2 In-Silico Phylogenetic Analysis of FAM26F

The first objective of this study focused on tracing the evolution of Ca_hom_mod domain of FAM26F through a in-silico approach which integrated a python pipeline and bioinformatics tool to generate a phylogenetic tree which displayed the evolutionary events and reconstruct its ancestral states. The evolutionary events in this case are the gain, loss, and duplication occurring in protein domains over time which impact its structure and complexity.All information regarding protein domains have been placed in various databases, of which pfam will be focused on in this study (Fong et al., 2007; Zmasek & Godzik, 2011).

To identify FAM26F across various organisms, FAM26F gene id's and sequences were retrieved from NCBI gene databank for 20 organisms. A python pipeline was used for domain matrix generation of FAM26F protein through an open-source repository on GitHub. This domain matric was proceeded to create phylogenetic tree (Brito & Pinney, 2020; OpenData/Brito_2019_HVsDomains/4_charEvol at Master · Andersonbrito/OpenData, n.d.).

3.2.1 Identifying protein domain through Python pipeline:

3.2.1.1 Retrieval of tORFs of organisms from NCBI Accession Ids':

The following organisms were selected based on their diversity to include a wide range for evolutionary analysis: *Austrofundulus limnaeus* (Killifish), *Bos mutus* (Wild yak), *Camelus dromedarius* (Camel), *Canis lupus familiaris* (Dog), *Columba livia* (Rock dove), *Danio rerio* (Zebrafish), *Exaiptasia diaphana* (Sea anemone), *Falco cherrug* (Saker Falon), *Felis catus* (Cat), *Ficedula albicollis* (collared flycatcher), *Gallus gallus* (Red jungle fowl), *Homo sapiens* (Human), *Lates calcarifer* (Barramundi), *Maylandia zebra* (Zebra Mbuna), *Microtus ochrogaster* (Prairie vole), *Pogona vitticeps* (Central Bearded Dragon), *Python bivittatus* (Burmese python), *Rattus norvegicus* (Brown rat), *Salmo salar* (Atlantic salmon), *and Stylophora pistilliata* (Hood coral). The python pipelines started by retrieving all of their Open Reading Framed (ORFs) once their accession id's from NCBI were given as input as a single text file.

3.2.1.2 Retrieval of Protein Domains by Scanning Pfam Database:

Hmmerrep2 was ran in the second step. It's a part of HMMER software which requires running hmmscan before (Eddy, 1992). The fasta files given as output by tORFs step was given as input to run hmmscan. It scanned for protein domain hits across HMM protein database, pfam-A in this case. (Finn et al., 2014; Mistry et al., 2021). To shortlist only the reliable hits and rule out any false positive and negative hits, an inclusion criterion for per-sequence e-value and per-domain conditional value was defined to be 0.001. It is a time-taking software to run and only accessible on LINUS or MAC system for which reason, it was accessed through supercomputer.

3.2.1.3 Retrieval of Domain Repertoires:

Domain repertoires were searched and retrieved by using the same above-mentioned thresholds. A domblout file generated by hmmscan was given as input to hmmerrep2.py and result was repertoires for each organism.

3.2.1.4 Generation of Domain Matrix:

The result of hmmerrep2 was given as input to run domMatrix.py and the domain repertoires was used to generate a domain matrix (Eddy, 1992). The protein domain matrix contained details of any presence and absence in/of domains in genome of each organism. This domain matrix was critical in conducting the phylogenetic analysis via bio-informatics tools further.

3.2.2 Phylogenetic analysis and protein substitution model prediction using ProtTest:

In the second part of evolutionary analysis, the amino acid sequence of FAM26F in each organism was taken from NCBI. In order to carry out the analysis, an amino-acid substitution model which was suitable for protein sequence being studies had to be selected. Alignment was carried through MAAFT (Katoh & Standley, 2013). ProtTest, a tool for describing amino-acid probability of change, was used to select best suited evolutionary model to reconstruct protein phylogeny (Abascal et al., 2005; Darriba et al., 2011).

3.2.3 Phylogenetic Analysis:

For phylogenetic analysis, Byesian evolutionary analysis was used. The divergence dating function in BEAST 2 software was used and Markov Chain Monte Carlo Bayesian approach was used to create a time-calibrated maximum clade credibility (MCC) tree (Jin & Brown, 2018). As a partition the multiple alignment file generated using MAAFT was imported with JTT amino acid substitution model as selected by ProtTest under Relaxed Clock Log Normal with Yule speciation process as tree prior. It was analyzed for 6 million generations for its running feasibility sampled every 10,000 generations. To annotate the

generated tree, Tree annotator v2.6.6 was used with burn in percentage set as 10% to generate a MCC tree (Jin & Brown, 2018).

3.2.3.1 Ancestral state reconstruction:

By conducting the ancestral state reconstruction, the result of python pipeline and BEAST will merge to give information about domain events in a visual manner. The time calibrated tree created in BEAST was opened in Mesquite as well as domain matrix generated through python was imported (Maddison, 2009). A linear parsimony reconstruction model was applied by Mesquite software to reconstruct the ancestral states. The domains were treated as meristic (additive) characters while the model used maximum parsimony principle. It reconstructed domains with minimum evolutionary events by using phylogenetic tree and domain distribution matrix provided as input.

3.2.3.2 Character evolution:

At the last step, python pipeline was used again. CharEvol.py was used to reconstruct the domain evolution by giving Mesquite output as input along a given phylogeny. The character states in this

case were protein domain counts per genome matrix. The result was visualized on an online tool, iTOL.

Figure 3.1 Figure depicting the pipeline followed for phylogenetic analysis



Figure 3.2.3 Depicting the pipeline followed for phylogenetic analysis

Chapter 4

Results

4.1 FAM26F expression in various cancers:

The expression of FAM26F in various cancer biopsies were explored through immunohistochemistry to observe its involvement in the tumorigenic pathways. Total of 58 samples were obtained from Northwest school of Medicine. The collected samples included cancers of several regions such as brain, prostate, renal, bladder, breast, bladder, and gastric region. The samples were fixed and then sectioned by using a microtome on poly-L-lysine slides and further subjected to Immunohistochemical analysis. This technique is widely recognized as being a process that helps in detection of the presence of any desirable or protein of choice in the sample on the basis of antigen interaction with its respective antibody. It has been established as a key tool to analyze the protein expression in tissues of our choice.

4.1.1 Expression of FAM26F in Brain cancer Tissues:

At the start of brain cancer there is inflammation that tries to control cancer progression but this inflammation turns chronic which causes an oxidative environment in the astrocyte cells and microglia, the immune cells residing in the brain. Cytokines stimulated macrophages to carry out oxidative burst phenomenon. There is an influx of calcium ions which result in high amounts of ROS and they end up protecting the cancer cells from being destroyed by apoptosis (Jaros et al., 1992). Calcium ion channels are predicted to play a significant role in calcium influx and since FAM26F is a calcium ion channel, it can be important in cancer progression.



Figure 7 Brain cancer tissues. a) IHC of brain tumor at 10X. b) IHC of brain tumor at 40X.



Figure 6 Graph shows FAM26F expression in brain cancer. It is higher in cancer positive samples compared to control tissues.

FAM26F expression was high in cancer positive samples showing FAM26F to be high in cancer.

4.1.2 Expression of FAM26F in Bladder carcinoma Tissues

Bladder cancer is the type of cancer which originates from the cells of the bladder. Like all body cells, cells of the urinary bladder also need a well-regulated calcium homeostasis system to conduct cell proliferation and other processes. A higher than normal amount of calcium ions acts as a trigger for apoptosis, however, this disturbance in calcium regulation is being recognized as a cancer feature (Zheng et al., 2022). The calcium channels have been found to protect these cancerous cells from starvation by altering Ca2+ from ER

(Zheng et al., 2022). It is also been reported to be involved in bladder malignancy, a cancer of the urinary tract, where calcium channels play a significant part (Ceylan et al., 2016).



Figure 9 Bladder carcinoma tissues. HE stained slide of bladder tumour taken at 10X whereas (b) IHC stained slide of bladder tumour at 10x, (c) HE slide at 10 X (d) IHC slide at 40X , (e) IHC at 40X, (f) IHC at 40X.



Figure 8 Graph shows expression of FAM26F in cancer positive samples. 2 samples had detectable expression while 18 were negative.

Since FAM26F is a calcium ion channel, its role in bladder cancer could contribute to cancer pathology.

Results

No detectable expression of FAM26F was observed in bladder carcinoma as out 0f 20 only 2 samples were positive and 18 were negative. This explains that there's no FAM26F expression seen in bladder carcinoma.

Age and gender has shown no effect on the expression of FAM26F in bladder cancer while its association with necrotic factors was checked (Table 4). The expression of FAM26F in necrotic vs non necrotic tissue is compared. Out of 20 bladder cancer samples. Necrosis was present in 8 i.e. 40 % of the samples, 75% of the necrotic tissues show low expression of FAM26F. Whereas 100 % of the non-necrotic tissues show no expression of FAM26F. 93% of the low grade tumor show low or no expression, only 7% shows positive expression. Same is the case with high grade tumors, 80% of the high grade tumor shows no expression of FAM26F whereas 20% show low expression. This means tumor grade has no effect on FAM26F expression.

Clinicopathologica	al features	FAM26F expression		ssion		
Bladder carcinoma	Null	Low Moderate Hig				
	Ge	ender				
Male	13	1	0	0		
Female	5	0	0	1		
Age						
Below 50	3	0	0	0		
Above 50	15	1	0	1		
Malignant	6	1	0	1		
Benign	12	0	0	0		

 Table 4 Clinicopathological significance of FAM26F expression in bladder carcinoma

Grade						
Low	14	0	0	1		
High	4	1	0	0		
	Necrosis					
Present	6	1	0	1		
Absent	12	0	0	0		

4.1.3 Expression of FAM26F in GIT carcinoma Tissues

After Carruthers and Suntzeff, in 1944, described the link between cancer and Ca2+, various studies have dived to explore it (Marchi & Pinton, 2016). After more than 70 years



Figure 10 Graph shows expression of FAM26F in cancer positive samples. 3 samples had detectable expression while none were negative.



Figure 11 Gastric Carcinoma tissues (a) HNE at 10X, b) IHC at 10X, c) IHC at 40x of GIT Carcinomas. Darkly stained color shows the expression of FAM26F whereas blue stain is attained by nuclei. HE slides are used to visualize the structure of tissue

calcium homeostasis dysregulation has been established to be a vital feature of cancer. The abnormal increase in Ca2+ movement inside cancer cell has been observed in prostate, breast and gastric cancer, due to aberrant expression of proteins of calcium homeostasis such as IP3R and SERCA (Gélébart et al., 2002; Marchi & Pinton, 2016). The expression of FAM26F is high in necrotic and malignant tissues of gastric carcinoma, indicating that high grade tumors have more expression of FAM26F and is present in glandular tumors. Out of 3 tissues, all were positive for the expression of FAM26F, depicting that the expression of FAM26F is gastric tissues.

Clinicopathological features			FAM26F expr	pression		
Gastric carcinoma N=3	Null	Low	Moderate	High		
	G	lender				
Male	0	2	0	0		
Female	0	0	0	1		
	L	Age	1			
Below 50	0	1	0	0		
Above 50	0	1	0	1		
Malignant	0	2	0	1		
Benign	0	0	0	0		
	(Grade				
Low	0	0	0	0		
high	0	2	0	1		
	Ne	ecrosis	1			
Present	0	2	0	1		
Absent	0	0	0	0		

TT11 	C11 · ·	.1 1 1 1	• • • •	C		•
Tohlo 5	('linico	nathological	eroniticance	ot	magtric	carcinomae
I abit J	CHILLO	Damoiogicai	Significance	UI.	Easure	caremonias
					0	

4.1.4 Expression of FAM26F in Breast cancer Tissues

Breast cancer also has reports of calcium homeostasis being a key player in cancer proliferation. In breast cancer we had a range of normal breast tissues, breast cancer tissues, post chemo breast cancer tissues from a variety of patients. The IHC and HE staining was performed on all of them. Later the slides were observed under microscope at different magnifications..



Figure 14 Normal Breast tissues (a) 10X HE slide of normal breast tissue. (b) 10X IHC of normal breast tissue, (c) 40X IHC slide of normal breast showing the expression of FAM26F. In normal breast tissues, expression of FAM26F is shown with dark brown stain



Figure 13 Breast Cancer Tissues (a) HE at 10x of breast cancer tissues, (b) IHC of breast cancer tissues showing no expression at 10x. It is clearly observed that the IHC staining score in breast cancer tissue is zero or very low. Which means that Fam26F is suppressed in cancer as compared to normal tissues.



Figure 12 Post chemo Breast Cancer tissues HE slide at 10X of post chemo breast tissue, (b) IHC of post chemo breast tissues at 10 X and (c) IHC of post chemo breast tissues at 4x.



Figure 15 FAM26F expression in normal vs cancer vs post chemo breast tissues.

In post chemo breast tissues the expression of FAM26F is restored. It means when infection or inflammation is suppressed by, Fam26F is enhanced like the expression of FAM6F in normal tissues. In cancer its expression is suppressed. The statistical evaluation of the relative levels of FAM26F in three groups i.e. normal, Breast and post chemo was performed by One-Way ANOVA. By applying the test a p-value of 0.0076 was obtained which is below 0.05. From these results, we have deduced that the correlation amongst these groups is highly significant.

Clinicopathological features	FAM26F expression				
Breast carcinoma N=9	Null	Low	Moderate	High	
Gender					
Male	0	0	0	0	
Female	2	2	1	4	
Age					
Below 50	2	0	1	2	
Above 50	1	1	0	2	
Malignant	1	1	0	1	
Benign	1	1	1	3	
Grade					
Grade I	1	1	1	0	
Grade II	0	0	0	1	
Grade III	1	1	0	1	
None	0	0	0	3	
Ki67					
<5	0	1	1	3	
>5	2	1	0	1	
Necrosis					
Present	1	1	0	1	
Absent	1	1	1	3	

T-1-1- C	C_1		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	- FEANOCE	·- · • • · · · •		•
Lanie n	(11n1coi	nathological	significance		eynression 1	in nreast t	1ccnec
I able 0	CHILCO	paniological	Significance	0111111201	CAPICOSION I	in oreast t	issues.

Breast cancer is majorly present in females. The effect sent in females. The females with age more than 50 are at more risk for breast carcinoma. The expression of FAM26F in non-necrotic and benign samples is more in co-relation to necrotic and malignant.

4.1.5 Expression of FAM26F Prostate cancer tissues:



Figure 3.21. Prostate cancer tissues

(a) HE slides of prostate cancer at 10X, (b) IHC of prostate cancer tissues is seen at 10X,(c) IHC at 40X of prostate cancer tissues

Clinicopathologica	FAM26F expression				
Prostate carcinoma	Null	Low	Moderate	High	
Gender					
Male	1	0	0	3	
Female	0	0	0	0	
Age					
Below 50	0	0	0	0	
Above 50	1	0	0	3	
Malignant	0	0	0	3	
Benign	1	0	0	0	
Grade					
Low(GS-06)	1	0	0	1	
High(GS-07)	0	0	0	2	
Necrosis					
Present	0	0	0	3	
Absent	1	0	0	0	

Table 11. Clinicopathological significance of FAM26F expression in prostate cancer

As prostate gland is found in males, therefore there's no case of prostate found in females. High expression of FAM26F is seen in males above 50. GS-07 Gleason score

tumor has more expression of FAM26F in relation to GS-06. Malignant and necrotic tissues show high expression of FAM26F in comparison with benign and non-necrotic. The data interprets that FAM26F could be used as a prognostic marker to predict the likelihood of prostate cancer. As its expression is seen high in prostate.



Figure 16 Prostate cancer tissues Positive vs Negative samples

This shows the expression of FAM26F is high in prostate as out of 4, 3 samples had positive result. This outcome follows our observation that the presence of fam26f is more in glandular tissues.

4.1.6 Expression of FAM26F Renal cancer tissues:

After some studies conducted which showed association between hypercalecimia and renal cancer, comparatively recent studies have reported a role of calcium homeostasis alteration in contributing to renal cancer (Carmeliet et al., 2003; Luo et al., 2020). The expression of FAM26F is not dependent on the age and gender type. 80% of the malignant and necrotic cells have high expression of FAM26. The nuclear grading has no effect on the FAM26F

Chapter 4

expression. In 5 samples, the expression of FAM26F is positive. The overall expression profile of FAM26F in renal cancer is high.



Figure 17 Renal cancer Tissues. (a) HE slide of renal carcinoma at 10X, (b) IHC slide of renal carcinoma at 10X, (c) 40X IHC slide of Renal carcinoma The expression of our marker is high in renal carcinoma. Approximately the Immuno-staining score is 3.



Figure 18 Positive vs negative in Renal carcinoma tissues

Clinicopathological fe	eatures	FA	M26F expressi	on
kidney carcinoma N=5	Null	Low	Moderate	High
Gender				
Male	0	1	2	2
Female	0	0	0	0
Age				
Below 50	0	0	1	1
Above 50		1	1	1
Malignant	0	0	2	2
Benign	0	1	0	0
Fuhrmans nuclear Grade				
Low(1/4)	0	1	1	1
High(3/4)	0	0	1	1
Necrosis				
Present	0	0	2	2
Absent	0	1	0	0

Table 12. Clinicopathological significance of FAM26F expression in Renal Carcinoma

Table 7 The intensity scoring of FAM26F expression in different cancer type according to the allred scoring scheme

Cancer types	Intensity Score					
	Null (0)	Low (1)	Moderate (2)	High (3)		
Bladder (N=20)	18	1	0	3		
Prostate (N=4)	1	0	0	3		
Renal (N=5)	0	1	3	1		
Gastric (N=3)	0	2	0	1		
Breast (N=9)	2	2	1	4		

4.2 In-Silico Phylogenetic Analysis of FAM26F

4.2.1 Protein domain identification:

4.2.1.1 tORFs retrieval:

Feeding the NCBI gene id's of FAM26F in each organism resulted in individual FASTA files. They contained all of the protein sequences in FASTA format against each open reading frame (ORF).

4.2.1.2 Protein Domains from Pfam:

Domain hits of the protein was scanned by Hmmscan using HMMER and was recorded in a text file named **domtblout** which contained all the scanned domains. The hits were scanned from pfam database. The domtblout file had per domain data. The individual data line per homologous domain is identified in a query sequence for each homologous model.

4.2.1.3 Domain Repertoires retrieval:

The domain repertoires were retrieved from previous result which had all the scanned domains. These domains were filtered for any unreliable hits by using *Hmmerrep2.py* and as a result the final result only contained domains with protein E values and domain E values smaller than or equal to 1×10^{-3} .

4.2.1.4 Generation of Domain Matrix:

A protein domain matrix was generated from python pipeline which gave in a numerical form the details of absence or presence of domain in each genome. It was formed with domain counts per taxa data.

4.2.2 4.2.2 Phylogenetic analysis:

ProtTest predicted the amino acid substitution model of our sequences to be JTT+G+ (Darriba et al., 2011). This model was used along with MAAFT multiple alignment to generate a maximum clade credibility tree by employing a Markov Chain Monte Carlo Bayesian approach (Bouckaert et al., 2014)

4.2.2.1 Ancestral state reconstruction and character evolution:

The liner parsimony model method reconstructs the domains at the mesquite tree internal node. It is effective in detecting domain loss, gain, and duplication events of domains. The final results were analyzed using python pipeline i.e character evolution. The output was the main determinant of domain evolution dynamics. It had the list of gain, duplication, and loss events reconstructed at every branch of the time-calibrated tree. The final tree with all the events was visualized using iTOL. The evolutionary events for FAM26F domain Ca_hom_mod repertoires, were mapped along the branches of the tree (Letunic & Bork, 2016).

For all 20 organisms, a total of 4410 non-redundant sets of domains were achieved through character evolution. Around 14000 domain loss, gain, and duplication events were recorded for these domains. All of these are listed below.

4.2.2.2 Evolution of FAM26F domain ca_hom_mod:

The phylogenetic tree obtained from iTOL was a rooted one having a common ancestor on its root for all the organisms. The main root was further divided into two branches. At one end of the branch aka node was *Stylophora pistillata* i.e. coral reef, the simplest of all organisms. There was no event of domain gain, loss or duplication observed for *S.pistillata* indicating that it has the original CALHM6 from the history/common ancestor millions of years ago. Whereas upon dividing into node 3, there was an event of domain gain (shown as a green box) on the node branch.

Node (n3) from the common ancestor was further divided into two branches (containing 19 leaves), *Exaiptasia diaphana* on one end and node 4 (n4) on the other end. There was no domain event detected for *Exaiptasia diaphana* but at node 4 there was a duplication event (shown as a purple box) occurred before dividing into node 5 and node 15. Node 5 contains 5 leaves at its end. *Lates calcarifer, Maylandia zebra,* and *Austrofundulus* inherited the same CALHM6 domain as of node 5 (duplicated one) but *Danio rerio* gained another duplication while *Salmo salar* observed domain loss (shown as a white box) of

CALHM6

in

it.

Node 14 is divided into two branches node 28 and node 15. Node 28 is further subdivided into node 36 and node 29. Node 28 observed domain loss before being divided into *Pogona vitticeps* and *Python bivittatus*. *Gallus gallus* inherited the same domain as node 14. *Ficedula albicollis* observed two duplication events while *Falco* and *Columba* observed one duplication each.

Node 15 first observed domain duplication and was divided into node 16 and node 25. Node 25 is further divided into *Rattus Norvegicus* and *Microtus ochrogaster* but with another domain duplication. Node 16 is divided into two clades. One containing *Camelus* with domain duplication, and *Bos* with domain loss. On the other clade, they have *Canis* with domain duplication while *Felis* along with *Homo sapiens* with a domain loss event.



Figure 19 iTOL tree showing domain gain (green box), loss (white), and duplication (purple) events of CALHM6 only

4.2.2.3 Domain evolution of interacting partners of FAM26F:

The results for domain evolution of interacting partners of CALHM6 are as follows. For *S.pistillata*, there was no event of domain gain, loss, or duplication for any of the interacting partners observed. For *Exaiptasia diaphana*, there were events of domain gain for CALHM6 (at node 3) and for peroxiredoxin (at node *exaiptasia*) observed. For *Salmosalar*, there were events of cal_hom_mod domain duplication (at node 4) and loss (at node *Salmo*), and a gain of S_100 (at node 11) domain was detected.

For *Danio*, along with duplication of cal_hom_mod (node 4) and gain of S_100 (node 11), there was gain followed by duplication of EF-hand 7, duplication of Calpain III, and duplication of Thioredoxin observed.

Austrofundulus and *Lates calcarifer* did not observe any specific event after cal hom mod duplication (node 4) and s_100 gain (node 11). While *Maylandia zebra* observed gain of TNF, EF HAND 7, S_100, CALPAIN III, and Thioredoxin along with duplication of TNF and d S_100 further.

At node 36, there was a cal hom mod domain loss observed and then there was no domain event for *Python bivittatus* and *Pogona vitticeps* further. At node 29, there was domain gain and then duplication for proteins ef hand 7 and Thioredoxin each, and domain gain for Calpain III. Then for Gallus, there was domain duplication for Calpain III along with gain and duplication for the TGF beta as well.

A duplication of the Cal_hom_mod domain was observed at node 30. For *Ficedula albicollis*, there was a gain and duplication of TGF beta, a gain of Vinculin, and duplications of Ef hand7, Calpain III, and Thioredoxin. Before the division of node 30 into *Falco cherrug* and *Columba livia*, there were domain losses observed for Calpain III, Ef hand7, and Thioredoxin at node 31.

At nodes 15 and 25 domain gain of cal hom mod was detected. For *Rattus Norvegicus*, domain gain and duplications were observed for TNF and TGF beta, and gain of peroxiredoxin was observed. There was no domain event for the *Microtus ochrogaster*.

For Camelus, domain gains of ef hand7 and Thioredoxin along with duplication of cal hom mod domain. For bos, loss of cal hom mod domain. For Canis, there were gains and duplications for EF hand7, Calpain III, Thioredoxin, and TGF beta was observed. The only gain of peroxiredoxin and only duplication of cal hom mod were detected. Before the division of node 22 into *felis* and homo, there was a domain loss of cal hom mod. Then

Results

Chapter 4

there was no event detected for *felis* and there were domain gains for TGF beta and





Figure 20 iTOL tree showing domain gain (green box), loss (white), and duplication (purple) events of CALHM6 along with its interacting partners.

4.2.2.4 The Domain Repertoire Events for CALHM6/FAM26F

FAM26F is reported to have only one domain i.e ca_hom_mod. The evolutionary events centered around this domain were screened from the events file generated through python and given as input in iTOL to visualize the iTOL tree. The loss, gain, and duplication events recorded for FAM26F are listed in Table 1. There is a total of 14 domain loss events, and 6 duplication events, while only one event was recorded where the domain had a gain, as shown in figure 2. The duplication and gain of domain events increased progressively in the higher organisms, indicating that the increase in size and complexity of protein led to its functionality in higher mammals, especially humans.

4.2.2.5 The Domain Repertoire Events for CALHM6 and its Calcium Interacting Partners

Along with CALHM6, the python pipeline yielded many protein domains. Through reported literature, major interacting protein partners of CALHM6 were shortlisted which were majorly the calcium homeostasis proteins involved in the immunological phenomenon, and were searched for in the results (Malik et al., 2020). The presence of those proteins was also a positive indicator of CALHM6 function in calcium homeostasis and respiratory burst based on the similarity of specific motifs present in the protein.

The co-evolution of those proteins along with CALHM6 on the phylogenetic tree was determined. The partners included Thioredoxin, Calpain, Vinculin, Protein Kinase C, Tetraspanin, SLC35F, SLC3A2, USP, IRF3, TPX2, NMT, INFGR, and TGF. A total of 118 evolutionary events were recorded for these proteins along with CALHM6.



Figure 21 iTOL tree showing domain gain (green box), loss (white), and duplication (purple) events of all the domains detected at the end of python pipeline

Discussion:

FAM26F is a significant immune protein that has started gaining attention as being a protein of immunological importance, while still having room for exploration in various aspects. One aspect was the investigation of the role FAM26F, a calcium ion channel protein, has to offer in various cancers. Main focus was on brain cancer since the brain tumor microenvironment has an evident involvement of calcium regulation and ROS in tumor progression, however, samples were obtained for renal, bladder, gastric, prostate, and breast cancers which helped in giving us additional insight of the expression of FAM26F in various cancers. The involvement of FAM26F is predicted due to the involvement of calcium homeostasis and subsequently of ROS in cancer progression. Since FAM26F is an ion channel protein, it is hypothised to aid in calcium ion movement inside the cancer cell. A decrease in FAM26F expression was observed in breast and bladder cancer as compared to expression in normal tissues. While an increase in FAM26F expression was observed in gastric carcinoma, renal cancer, brain cancer, and prostate cancer. This differential expression of FAM26F in different cancer biopsies indicate the possible involvement of this protein in cancer. Whether this involvement is for cancer progression or cancer clearance is yet to be explored in detail in each type of cancer.

Moreover, one approach was conducting phylogenetic analysis across a range of species to have a clear insight in its evolutionary pattern. Phylogenetic analysis is an important tool throughout biological science for conducting comparison on historical relationships and information about proteins, genes, individuals, species, and population. This information is depicted in the form of behavioral, morphological, or molecular data, and visualized as
a branching diagram, known as a phylogenetic tree. In 2017, Malik et al. conducted an evolutionary analysis on FAM26F, showing it to be relatively conserved with the most homology shown with the chimpanzee. Further in-silico studies conducted by them showed that FAM26F was located on human chromosome 6, position 6q22.1, which translated to make a 315 amino acids long protein. However, no previous attempt to trace the exact domains and the evolution of FAM26F had been made. This study is the first study designed to explore the evolution of protein domain repertoires of FAM26F. It aims to trace the specific events of gain, loss, and duplication in the FAM26F protein domain, concerning the evolution of its interacting partners across 20 different eukaryotic organisms as listed: Austrofundulus limnaeus (Killifish), Camelus dromedarius (Camel), Bos mutus (Wild yak), Columba livia (Rock dove), Canis lupus familiaris (Dog), Falco cherrug (Saker Falon), Danio rerio (Zebrafish), Exaiptasia diaphana (Sea anemone), Felis catus (Cat), Gallus gallus (Red jungle fowl), Maylandia zebra (Zebra Mbuna), Pogona vitticeps (Central Bearded Dragon), Microtus ochrogaster (Prairie vole), Lates calcarifer (Barramundi), Homo sapiens (Human), Python bivittatus (Burmese python), Salmo salar (Atlantic salmon), Stylophora pistilliata (Hood coral), Ficedula albicollis (collared flycatcher), and Rattus norvegicus (Brown rat).

The genomic id's from NCBI database were submitted which gave the open reading frames which were submitted further in the pipeline to get the domain matrix. The end result was a phylogenetic tree with domain events presented on each branch. These domain shuffling events may occur during evolution and these include the domain losses, duplications and gains which help to increase the domain function versatility and occurrence and eventually in protein function. Additionally the idea of proteins being co-evolved involved in similar pathways has also been reported as an important feature of the evolution to ensure the proteins remain in relationship throughout the course of evolution (Holzerlandt et al., 2002). Malik et. Al has reported the possibility of FAM26F being in interaction with calcium homeostasis proteins (Malik et al., 2020). This study confirmed that idea by further strengthening that association through possibility of co-evolution of interacting partners with FAM26F.

Through the combined approach of python and bio-informatics tools, a deep insight in the domain contents and events of proteins in relation to their phylogenetic history was effectively achieved. Apart from generation of domain matrix which was time consuming, the overall pipeline was rather user friendly. Ancestral character reconstruction proved to be an invaluable way in yielding exact domain events pattern of FAM26F, Calpain, protein S100-A7, Vinculin, Peroxiredoxin, Thioredoxin, and Calmodulin-like protein 5. Phylogenetic approach alongside the immunohistochemistry on cancer biopsies testified the role of FAM26F as a protein of calcium homeostasis.

Conclusion and Future Prospects

Overall, the findings of our study highlight the importance of FAM26F as an innate immune modulator, and it is suggested that FAM26F expression could be used as an early cancer predictor. Whether FAM26F is involved early in cancer formation or later in immune resistance, our research has indicated that it is an important molecule with obvious intrinsic value that deserves further examination. CALHM6 is still a relatively new protein with much potential for exploration in various aspects.

The current study applies the computational approach to trace the evolution of CALHM6s' domain involved in calcium homeostasis and compare the events with the proteins involved in calcium homeostasis and which have shown an association with it in previous studies. The genomic id of CALHM6 across a wide range of species, coinciding with the protein id of CALHM6, was selected and translated. Their open reading frames were recruited and domain events were traced using a python pipeline to generate a domain matrix which was then used as input in bioinformatics tools. A time-calibrated tree of CALHM6 was generated with amino acid sequence and suitable amino acid substitution model and used as input in Mesquite which combined the domain matrix and tree to generate a phylogenetic tree. It was visualized in iTOL. It was easy to visualize, read, and further analyzed. Further analysis of the remaining domains given by the software is needed for an even clearer understanding of CALHM6 evolution.

References

References

- Abascal, F., Zardoya, R., & Posada, D. (2005). ProtTest: Selection of best-fit models of protein evolution. *Bioinformatics (Oxford, England)*, 21(9), 2104–2105. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/bti263
- Alghamri, M. S., McClellan, B. L., Hartlage, C. S., Haase, S., Faisal, S. M., Thalla, R., Dabaja, A., Banerjee, K., Carney, S. V., Mujeeb, A. A., Olin, M. R., Moon, J. J., Schwendeman, A., Lowenstein, P. R., & Castro, M. G. (2021). Targeting Neuroinflammation in Brain Cancer: Uncovering Mechanisms, Pharmacological Targets, and Neuropharmaceutical Developments. *Frontiers in Pharmacology, 12*. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphar.2021.680021

Ahmad, Z., Idress, R., Fatima, S., Uddin, N., Ahmed, A., Minhas, K., ... & Naila Kayani, N. K. (2016). Commonest cancers in Pakistan-findings and histopathological perspective from a premier surgical pathology center in Pakistan. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev*, *17*(3), 1061.

Ames, B. N., Shigenaga, M. K., & Hagen, T. M. (1993). Oxidants, antioxidants, and the degenerative diseases of aging. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 90(17), 7915–7922.

Andersson, S. G. E., Zomorodipour, A., Andersson, J. O., Sicheritz-Pontén, T., Alsmark,
U. C. M., Podowski, R. M., Näslund, A. K., Eriksson, A.-S., Winkler, H. H., &
Kurland, C. G. (1998). The genome sequence of Rickettsia prowazekii and the
origin of mitochondria. *Nature*, *396*(6707), Article 6707.
https://doi.org/10.1038/24094

- Babior, Berna. M., Curnutte, J. T., & McMurrich, B. J. (1976). The particulate superoxideforming system from human neutrophils. Properties of the system and further evidence supporting its participation in the respiratory burst. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 58(4), 989–996.
- Berghoff, A. S., & Preusser, M. (2015). The inflammatory microenvironment in brain metastases: Potential treatment target? *Chinese Clinical Oncology*, 4(2), 21–21.
- Berridge, M. J. (2012). Calcium signalling remodelling and disease. *Biochemical Society Transactions*, 40(2), 297–309.
- Bhaduri, A., Di Lullo, E., Jung, D., Müller, S., Crouch, E. E., Espinosa, C. S., Ozawa, T., Alvarado, B., Spatazza, J., & Cadwell, C. R. (2020). Outer radial glia-like cancer stem cells contribute to heterogeneity of glioblastoma. *Cell Stem Cell*, 26(1), 48-63. e6.
- Bhat, S. S., Anand, D., & Khanday, F. A. (2015). p66Shc as a switch in bringing about contrasting responses in cell growth: Implications on cell proliferation and apoptosis. *Molecular Cancer*, 14(1), 76. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12943-015-0354-9
- Bordin, N., Sillitoe, I., Lees, J. G., & Orengo, C. (2021). Tracing Evolution Through
 Protein Structures: Nature Captured in a Few Thousand Folds. *Frontiers in Molecular Biosciences*, 8.

https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmolb.2021.668184

Bouckaert, R., Heled, J., Kühnert, D., Vaughan, T., Wu, C.-H., Xie, D., Suchard, M. A., Rambaut, A., & Drummond, A. J. (2014). BEAST 2: A software platform for

Bayesian evolutionary analysis. *PLoS Computational Biology*, *10*(4), e1003537. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1003537

- Brat, D. J., Aldape, K., Colman, H., Holland, E. C., Louis, D. N., Jenkins, R. B., Kleinschmidt-DeMasters, B. K., Perry, A., Reifenberger, G., & Stupp, R. (2018). cIMPACT-NOW update 3: Recommended diagnostic criteria for "Diffuse astrocytic glioma, IDH-wildtype, with molecular features of glioblastoma, WHO grade IV." Acta Neuropathologica, 136(5), 805–810.
- Brito, A. F., & Pinney, J. W. (2020). The evolution of protein domain repertoires: Shedding light on the origins of the Herpesviridae family. *Virus Evolution*, 6(1), veaa001. https://doi.org/10.1093/ve/veaa001
- Butkowski, E. (2020). Chapter 1—Oxidative stress markers in diabetes. In V. R. Preedy (Ed.), *Diabetes (Second Edition)* (pp. 3–11). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-815776-3.00001-2
- Cao, S. S., & Kaufman, R. J. (2014). Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress and Oxidative Stress in Cell Fate Decision and Human Disease. *Antioxidants & Redox Signaling*, 21(3), 396–413. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2014.5851
- Case, R. M., Eisner, D., Gurney, A., Jones, O., Muallem, S., & Verkhratsky, A. (2007).
 Evolution of calcium homeostasis: From birth of the first cell to an omnipresent signalling system. *Cell Calcium*, 42(4), 345–350.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceca.2007.05.001
- Chiba, S., Ikushima, H., Ueki, H., Yanai, H., Kimura, Y., Hangai, S., Nishio, J., Negishi, H., Tamura, T., Saijo, S., Iwakura, Y., & Taniguchi, T. (2014). Recognition of

tumor cells by Dectin-1 orchestrates innate immune cells for anti-tumor responses. *ELife*, *3*, e04177. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.04177

- Costa, A., Scholer-Dahirel, A., & Mechta-Grigoriou, F. (2014). The role of reactive oxygen species and metabolism on cancer cells and their microenvironment. *Seminars in Cancer Biology*, 25, 23–32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2013.12.007
- Darlix, A., Zouaoui, S., Rigau, V., Bessaoud, F., Figarella-Branger, D., Mathieu-Daudé, H., Trétarre, B., Bauchet, F., Duffau, H., Taillandier, L., & Bauchet, L. (2017).
 Epidemiology for primary brain tumors: A nationwide population-based study. *Journal of Neuro-Oncology*, *131*(3), 525–546. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11060-016-2318-3
- Darriba, D., Taboada, G. L., Doallo, R., & Posada, D. (2011). ProtTest 3: Fast selection of best-fit models of protein evolution. *Bioinformatics*, 27(8), 1164–1165. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btr088
- Di, A., Mehta, D., & Malik, A. B. (2016). ROS-activated calcium signaling mechanisms regulating endothelial barrier function. *Cell Calcium*, 60(3), 163–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceca.2016.02.002
- Dupré-Crochet, S., Erard, M., & Nüβe, O. (2013). ROS production in phagocytes: Why, when, and where? *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, *94*(4), 657–670.
- Duraiyan, J., Govindarajan, R., Kaliyappan, K., & Palanisamy, M. (2012). Applications of immunohistochemistry. *Journal of Pharmacy & Bioallied Sciences*, 4(Suppl 2), S307.
- Ebihara, T., Azuma, M., Oshiumi, H., Kasamatsu, J., Iwabuchi, K., Matsumoto, K., Saito, H., Taniguchi, T., Matsumoto, M., & Seya, T. (2010). Identification of a polyI: C-

inducible membrane protein that participates in dendritic cell-mediated natural killer cell activation. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 207(12), 2675–2687.

- Eddy, S. (1992). HMMER user's guide. *Department of Genetics, Washington University School of Medicine*, 2(1), 13.
- Ermak, G., & Davies, K. J. A. (2002). Calcium and oxidative stress: From cell signaling to cell death. *Molecular Immunology*, 38(10), 713–721. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0161-5890(01)00108-0</u>
- Fedchenko, N., & Reifenrath, J. (2014). Different approaches for interpretation and reporting of immunohistochemistry analysis results in the bone tissue–a review. *Diagnostic pathology*, 9(1), 1-12.
- Feher, J. (2017). 9.7 Calcium and Phosphorus Homeostasis I: The Calcitropic Hormones.
 In J. Feher (Ed.), *Quantitative Human Physiology (Second Edition)* (pp. 924–932).
 Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-800883-6.00090-2
- Finn, R. D., Bateman, A., Clements, J., Coggill, P., Eberhardt, R. Y., Eddy, S. R., Heger,
 A., Hetherington, K., Holm, L., Mistry, J., Sonnhammer, E. L. L., Tate, J., & Punta,
 M. (2014). Pfam: The protein families database. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 42(D1),
 D222–D230. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkt1223
- Fong, J. H., Geer, L. Y., Panchenko, A. R., & Bryant, S. H. (2007). Modeling the Evolution of Protein Domain Architectures Using Maximum Parsimony. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 366(1), 307–315. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmb.2006.11.017
- Foskett, J. K. (2020). Structures of CALHM channels revealed. *Nature Structural & Molecular Biology*, 27(3), Article 3. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41594-020-0391-y

- Giorgi, C., De Stefani, D., Bononi, A., Rizzuto, R., & Pinton, P. (2009). Structural and functional link between the mitochondrial network and the endoplasmic reticulum. *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology*, *41*(10), 1817–1827. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocel.2009.04.010
- Giorgio, M., Migliaccio, E., Orsini, F., Paolucci, D., Moroni, M., Contursi, C., Pelliccia, G., Luzi, L., Minucci, S., Marcaccio, M., Pinton, P., Rizzuto, R., Bernardi, P., Paolucci, F., & Pelicci, P. G. (2005). Electron Transfer between Cytochrome c and p66Shc Generates Reactive Oxygen Species that Trigger Mitochondrial Apoptosis. *Cell*, *122*(2), 221–233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2005.05.011
- Gordeeva, A. V., Zvyagilskaya, R. A., & Labas, Y. A. (2003). Cross-talk between reactive oxygen species and calcium in living cells. *Biochemistry. Biokhimiia*, 68(10), 1077–1080. https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1026398310003
- Görlach, A., Bertram, K., Hudecova, S., & Krizanova, O. (2015). Calcium and ROS: A mutual interplay. *Redox Biology*, 6, 260–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.redox.2015.08.010
- Gorrini, C., Harris, I. S., & Mak, T. W. (2013). Modulation of oxidative stress as an anticancer strategy. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery*, 12(12), Article 12. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd4002
- Grinstein, S., & Klip, A. (1989). Calcium homeostasis and the activation of calcium channels in cells of the immune system. *Bulletin of the New York Academy of Medicine*, 65(1), 69–79.

- Hempel, N., & Trebak, M. (2017). Crosstalk between calcium and reactive oxygen species signaling in cancer. *Cell Calcium*, 63, 70–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceca.2017.01.007
- Holmgren, A., & Lu, J. (2010). Thioredoxin and thioredoxin reductase: Current research with special reference to human disease. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 396(1), 120–124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2010.03.083</u>
- Howell, M., & Shepherd, M. (2021). The immune system. *Anaesthesia & Intensive Care Medicine*, 22(8), 518–521.
- Maqsood, B., Zeeshan, M. M., Rehman, F., Aslam, F., Zafar, A., Syed, B., ... & Imam, S. Z. Student's Corner.
- Jaros, E., Perry, R. H., Adam, L., Kelly, P. J., Crawford, P. J., Kalbag, R. M., Mendelow,
 A. D., Sengupta, R. P., & Pearson, A. D. J. (1992). Prognostic implications of p53
 protein, epidermal growth factor receptor, and Ki-67 labelling in brain tumours. *British Journal of Cancer*, 66(2), Article 2. https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.1992.273
- Jin, Y., & Brown, R. P. (2018). Partition number, rate priors and unreliable divergence times in Bayesian phylogenetic dating. *Cladistics*, 34(5), 568–573. https://doi.org/10.1111/cla.12223
- Jones, D. T., Pugh, C. W., Wigfield, S., Stevens, M. F. G., & Harris, A. L. (2006). Novel thioredoxin inhibitors paradoxically increase hypoxia-inducible factor-alpha expression but decrease functional transcriptional activity, DNA binding, and degradation. *Clinical Cancer Research: An Official Journal of the American Association for Cancer Research, 12*(18), 5384–5394. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-2380

Joosse, S. A., van Beers, E. H., Tielen, I. H. G., Horlings, H., Peterse, J. L., Hoogerbrugge, N., Ligtenberg, M. J., Wessels, L. F. A., Axwijk, P., Verhoef, S., Hogervorst, F. B. L., & Nederlof, P. M. (2009). Prediction of BRCA1-association in hereditary non-BRCA1/2 breast carcinomas with array-CGH. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, *116*(3), 479–489. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-008-0117-z

- Kachikwu, E. L., Iwamoto, K. S., Liao, Y.-P., DeMarco, J. J., Agazaryan, N., Economou,
 J. S., McBride, W. H., & Schaue, D. (2011). Radiation enhances regulatory T cell representation. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology, Biology, Physics*, 81(4), 1128–1135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrobp.2010.09.034
- Katoh, K., & Standley, D. M. (2013). MAFFT Multiple Sequence Alignment Software Version 7: Improvements in Performance and Usability. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 30(4), 772–780. https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/mst010
- Kohchi, C., Inagawa, H., Nishizawa, T., & Soma, G.-I. (2009). ROS and innate immunity. *Anticancer Research*, 29(3), 817–821.
- Kong, Q., Beel, J. A., & Lillehei, K. O. (2000). A threshold concept for cancer therapy. *Medical Hypotheses*, 55(1), 29–35.
- Lee, S.-R., Yang, K.-S., Kwon, J., Lee, C., Jeong, W., & Rhee, S. G. (2002). Reversible inactivation of the tumor suppressor PTEN by H2O2. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(23), 20336–20342.
- Lenis, A. T., Lec, P. M., & Chamie, K. (2020). Bladder cancer: a review. Jama, 324(19), 1980-1991.

- Letunic, I., & Bork, P. (2016). Interactive tree of life (iTOL) v3: An online tool for the display and annotation of phylogenetic and other trees. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 44(W1), W242–W245.
- Li, S., Wang, L., Berman, M., Kong, Y.-Y., & Dorf, M. E. (2011). Mapping a dynamic innate immunity protein interaction network regulating type I interferon production. *Immunity*, 35(3), 426–440.
- Lillig, C. H., & Holmgren, A. (2007). Thioredoxin and related molecules—From biology to health and disease. *Antioxidants & Redox Signaling*, 9(1), 25–47. https://doi.org/10.1089/ars.2007.9.25
- Ma, Z., Tanis, J. E., Taruno, A., & Foskett, J. K. (2016). Calcium homeostasis modulator (CALHM) ion channels. *Pflugers Archiv: European Journal of Physiology*, 468(3), 395–403. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00424-015-1757-6
- Maddison, W. P. (2009). Mesquite: A modular system for evolutionary analysis, ver. 2.72. *Http://Mesquiteproject. Org.*
- Malik, U., & Javed, A. (2016). FAM26F: An Enigmatic Protein Having a Complex Role in the Immune System. *International Reviews of Immunology*, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1080/08830185.2016.1206098
- Malik, U., Javed, A., Ali, A., & Asghar, K. (2017). Structural and functional annotation of human FAM26F: A multifaceted protein having a critical role in the immune system. *Gene*, 597, 66–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gene.2016.10.029
- Malik, U., Zafar, S., Younas, N., Zerr, I., & Javed, A. (2020). Unveiling the Physical and Functional Niches of FAM26F by Analyzing Its Subcellular Localization and

Novel Interacting Partners. *ACS Omega*, 5(35), 22008–22020. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsomega.0c01249

- Matsuzawa, A., Saegusa, K., Noguchi, T., Sadamitsu, C., Nishitoh, H., Nagai, S., Koyasu, S., Matsumoto, K., Takeda, K., & Ichijo, H. (2005). ROS-dependent activation of the TRAF6-ASK1-p38 pathway is selectively required for TLR4-mediated innate immunity. *Nature Immunology*, 6(6), Article 6. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni1200
- Mistry, J., Chuguransky, S., Williams, L., Qureshi, M., Salazar, G. A., Sonnhammer, E. L.
 L., Tosatto, S. C. E., Paladin, L., Raj, S., Richardson, L. J., Finn, R. D., & Bateman,
 A. (2021). Pfam: The protein families database in 2021. *Nucleic Acids Research*,
 49(D1), D412–D419. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkaa913
- Mosca, L., Fabris, S., Lionetti, M., Todoerti, K., Agnelli, L., Morabito, F., Cutrona, G., Andronache, A., Matis, S., Ferrari, F., Gentile, M., Spriano, M., Callea, V., Festini, G., Molica, S., Deliliers, G. L., Bicciato, S., Ferrarini, M., & Neri, A. (2010). Integrative genomics analyses reveal molecularly distinct subgroups of B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia patients with 13q14 deletion. *Clinical Cancer Research: An Official Journal of the American Association for Cancer Research, 16*(23), 5641–5653. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-0151
- Mostofa, A. G. M., Punganuru, S. R., Madala, H. R., Al-Obaide, M., & Srivenugopal, K.
 S. (2017). The Process and Regulatory Components of Inflammation in Brain Oncogenesis. *Biomolecules*, 7(2), Article 2. https://doi.org/10.3390/biom7020034
- Mukhtar, M., Bilal, M., Rahdar, A., Barani, M., Arshad, R., Behl, T., Brisc, C., Banica, F.,& Bungau, S. (2020). Nanomaterials for Diagnosis and Treatment of Brain Cancer:

- RecentUpdates.Chemosensors,8(4),Article4.https://doi.org/10.3390/chemosensors8040117
- Nguyen, G. T., Green, E. R., & Mecsas, J. (2017). Neutrophils to the ROScue: Mechanisms of NADPH Oxidase Activation and Bacterial Resistance. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, 7. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fcimb.2017.00373

Olivier, C., Oliver, L., Lalier, L., & Vallette, F. M. (2021). Drug Resistance in

Glioblastoma: The Two Faces of Oxidative Stress. *Frontiers in Molecular Biosciences*, 7. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmolb.2020.620677

- OpenData/brito_2019_HVsDomains/4_charEvol at master · andersonbrito/openData. (n.d.). GitHub. Retrieved November 10, 2022, from https://github.com/andersonbrito/openData
- Perkins, A., & Liu, G. (2016). Primary Brain Tumors in Adults: Diagnosis and Treatment. *American Family Physician*, 93(3), 211-217B.
- Puzianowska-Kuznicka, M., & Kuznicki, J. (2009). The ER and ageing II: Calcium homeostasis. Ageing Research Reviews, 8(3), 160–172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2009.05.002
- Quader, S., Kataoka, K., & Cabral, H. (2022). Nanomedicine for brain cancer. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, *182*, 114115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2022.114115
- Raviraj, R., Nagaraja, S. S., Selvakumar, I., Mohan, S., & Nagarajan, D. (2020). The epigenetics of brain tumors and its modulation during radiation: A review. *Life Sciences*, 256, 117974. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lfs.2020.117974</u>

Rawla P. (2019). Epidemiology of Prostate Cancer. World journal of oncology, 10(2), 63–89. https://doi.org/10.14740/wjon1191

Reczek, C. R., & Chandel, N. S. (2017). The two faces of reactive oxygen species in cancer.

- Reczek, C. R., & Chandel, N. S. (2018). ROS Promotes Cancer Cell Survival through Calcium Signaling. *Cancer Cell*, 33(6), 949–951. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2018.05.010</u>
- Rossi, S. H., Klatte, T., Usher-Smith, J., & Stewart, G. D. (2018). Epidemiology and screening for renal cancer. *World journal of urology*, *36*, 1341-1353.
- Sabharwal, S. S., & Schumacker, P. T. (2014). Mitochondrial ROS in cancer: Initiators, amplifiers or an Achilles' heel? *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 14(11), Article 11. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc3803
- Saraiva, M., Smith, P., Fallon, P. G., & Alcami, A. (2002). Inhibition of type 1 cytokinemediated inflammation by a soluble CD30 homologue encoded by ectromelia (mousepox) virus. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 196(6), 829–839. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20020319
- Sowers, J. L., Johnson, K. M., Conrad, C., Patterson, J. T., & Sowers, L. C. (2014). The Role of Inflammation in Brain Cancer. In B. B. Aggarwal, B. Sung, & S. C. Gupta (Eds.), *Inflammation and Cancer* (pp. 75–105). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-0348-0837-8_4
- Stefansson, O. A., Jonasson, J. G., Johannsson, O. T., Olafsdottir, K., Steinarsdottir, M., Valgeirsdottir, S., & Eyfjord, J. E. (2009). Genomic profiling of breast tumours in relation to BRCAabnormalities and phenotypes. *Breast Cancer Research*, 11(4), R47. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/bcr2334</u>

Smyth, E. C., Nilsson, M., Grabsch, H. I., van Grieken, N. C., & Lordick, F. (2020). Gastric cancer. *The Lancet*, *396*(10251), 635-648.

- Szatrowski, T. P., & Nathan, C. F. (1991). Production of large amounts of hydrogen peroxide by human tumor cells. *Cancer Research*, *51*(3), 794–798.
- Taganov, K. D., Boldin, M. P., Chang, K.-J., & Baltimore, D. (2006). NF-κB-dependent induction of microRNA miR-146, an inhibitor targeted to signaling proteins of innate immune responses. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 103(33), 12481–12486.
- Tan, S., Sagara, Y., Liu, Y., Maher, P., & Schubert, D. (1998). The regulation of reactive oxygen species production during programmed cell death. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 141(6), 1423–1432.
- Tsai, C.-S., Chen, F.-H., Wang, C.-C., Huang, H.-L., Jung, S.-M., Wu, C.-J., Lee, C.-C., McBride, W. H., Chiang, C.-S., & Hong, J.-H. (2007). Macrophages from irradiated tumors express higher levels of iNOS, arginase-I and COX-2, and promote tumor growth. *International Journal of Radiation Oncology, Biology, Physics*, 68(2), 499–507. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrobp.2007.01.041
- Ulloa-Montoya, F., Louahed, J., Dizier, B., Gruselle, O., Spiessens, B., Lehmann, F. F., Suciu, S., Kruit, W. H. J., Eggermont, A. M. M., Vansteenkiste, J., & Brichard, V. G. (2013). Predictive gene signature in MAGE-A3 antigen-specific cancer immunotherapy. *Journal of Clinical Oncology: Official Journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, 31*(19), 2388–2395. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2012.44.3762

- Wang, J., & Yi, J. (2008). Cancer cell killing via ROS: to increase or decrease, that is the question. *Cancer Biology & Therapy*, 7(12), 1875–1884.
- Webster, K. A. (2012). Mitochondrial membrane permeabilization and cell death during myocardial infarction: Roles of calcium and reactive oxygen species. *Future Cardiology*, 8(6), 863–884. <u>https://doi.org/10.2217/fca.12.58</u>
- Youn, H. J., & Han, W. (2020). A review of the epidemiology of breast cancer in Asia:
 Focus on risk factors. *Asian Pacific journal of cancer prevention: APJCP*, 21(4), 867.
- Tran, L., Xiao, J. F., Agarwal, N., Duex, J. E., & Theodorescu, D. (2021). Advances in bladder cancer biology and therapy. Nature Reviews Cancer, 21(2), 104-121.
- Zhu, V. F., Yang, J., LeBrun, D. G., & Li, M. (2012). Understanding the role of cytokines in Glioblastoma Multiforme pathogenesis. *Cancer Letters*, 316(2), 139–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2011.11.001
- Zmasek, C. M., & Godzik, A. (2011). Strong functional patterns in the evolution of eukaryotic genomes revealed by the reconstruction of ancestral protein domain repertoires. *Genome Biology*, 12(1), R4. https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2011-12-1-r4
- Zumel-Marne, A., Kundi, M., Castaño-Vinyals, G., Alguacil, J., Petridou, E. T., Georgakis, M. K., Morales-Suárez-Varela, M., Sadetzki, S., Piro, S., & Nagrani, R. (2020).
 Clinical presentation of young people (10–24 years old) with brain tumors: Results from the international MOBI-Kids study. *Journal of Neuro-Oncology*, *147*(2), 427–440.

turnitin D Digital Receipt

this receipt acknowledges that Turnitin received your paper. Below you will find the receipt Information regarding your submission.

The first page of your submissions is displayed below.

Mis Aalma subminuted authors Assignment Unlet papers Turnor proliferation Submission title: Aama.pdf File playmer 1.96M1710 55201 Page count 57 Ward council 12,425 65,351 Character count: 09-Feb-2023 01:33AM (UTC-0800) Submission date: 2010007794 Submission ID:

Auraci

manufacture and a statements been and the rest of th and some start in the second of the second s prophilis entering and property states with the states of the in the present function and being drive his high street a base a territer in some som ellerar bereasteren fillig avantering statutes in sectorest. Some subscriptions to director-shift anather Delevitati tany kilikarshi oʻshis anakaninga informita selenas inopasokoninkak ments shared the destruction of the second state of a second state sensed institut) is for this askell intermential toronomation. Form manufaction, manufacture in the state of the int nation and a second second size of the second se rn, petitessebulet. The laneatesta laboral, Anteresteration at the about and the subscription of the one printered reacting provided as his warming prover party his answer has the probability of the control of the second s in Accordance and a Contraction of the second se site construction in a second second second second second second and the last state of the state Alternational and the state of tagen construction and a second studies water of spice and president responses in \$10,000 representations provide and the are à la colonne salore tontal possibilitanesse aplification





		My Know in May	1
DRIGINAL HO 16 SIMILARI	% 12% 10% TY INDEX INTERNET SOURCES PUBLICATIONS	7% STUDENT PAPERS	
PRIMARY S	Submitted to Higher Education Corr Pakistan Student Paper	mission	2%
2	it.scribd.com Internet Source		1%
3	Systems Biology of Free Radicals an Antioxidants, 2014.	nd	1%
4	www.frontiersin.org	مرین او دور او میکند. مرین او دور او میکند (او دور میکند) دارد میکند (او دور میکند) و دور میکند (او دور میکند) و دور م	1%
5	Submitted to University of Warwic Student Paper	K	1%
6	academic.oup.com	197 M (1200 - 1107) and 111 M (1107) day at 1200 A (1107) and 1200	<1%
7	link.springer.com	antana ana kaominina dia kaominina dia mampika kaominina dia kaominina dia kaominina dia kaominina dia kaominin	< 1 %
8	worldwidescience.org		<1%



9	Uzma Malik, Saima Zafar, Neelam Younas, Inga Zerr, Aneela Javed. "Unveiling the Physical and Functional Niches of FAM26F by Analyzing Its Subcellular Localization and Novel Interacting Partners", ACS Omega, 2020 Publication	< 1 %
10	etheses.whiterose.ac.uk Internet Source	<1%
11	Submitted to Gujarat Technological University Student Paper	<1%
12	Submitted to Brunel University Student Paper	<1%
13	www.mdpi.com Internet Source	<1%
14	www.coursehero.com	<1%
15	Nadine Hempel, Mohamed Trebak. "Crosstalk between calcium and reactive oxygen species signaling in cancer", Cell Calcium, 2017 Publication	<1%
16	Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology, 2012. Publication	<1%
17	Anderson F Brito, John W Pinney. "The evolution of protein domain repertoires:	<1%

Shedding light on the origins of the Herpesviridae family", Virus Evolution, 2020

Publication

18	digital.csic.es	<1%
19	dokumen.pub Internet Source	<1 %
20	tudr.thapar.edu:8080	<1 %
21	www.medicinenet.com	<1%
22	acikbilim.yok.gov.tr Internet Source	<1 %
23	core.ac.uk Internet Source	<1 %
24	livrepository.liverpool.ac.uk	<1 %
25	s3-ap-southeast-1.amazonaws.com	<1 %
26	doaj.org Internet Source	<1%
27	hdl.handle.net Internet Source	<1%
28	theses.gla.ac.uk	<1%

29	"Oncoimmunology", Springer Science and Business Media LLC, 2018 Publication	<1%
30	Submitted to University of Melbourne Student Paper	<1%
31	mafiadoc.com Internet Source	<1%
32	www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov Internet Source	<1%
33	Cancer Bioinformatics, 2014. Publication	<1%
34	era.ed.ac.uk Internet Source	<1%
35	etd.adm.unipi.it Internet Source	<1%
36	wellinghomeopathy.com Internet Source	<1%
37	Annina Seiler, Anil K. Sood, Josef Jenewein, Christopher P. Fagundes. "Can stress promote the pathophysiology of brain metastases? A critical review of biobehavioral mechanisms", Brain, Behavior, and Immunity, 2019 Publication	<1%

38	Mauricio Torres, Karen Castillo, Ricardo Armisén, Andrés Stutzin, Claudio Soto, Claudio Hetz. "Prion Protein Misfolding Affects Calcium Homeostasis and Sensitizes Cells to Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress", PLoS ONE, 2010 Publication	<1%
39	espace.library.uq.edu.au	<1%
40	go.gale.com Internet Source	<1%
41	"Glioma Imaging", Springer Science and Business Media LLC, 2020 Publication	< 1 %
42	"Horizontal Gene Transfer", Springer Science and Business Media LLC, 2020 Publication	<1%
43	Muhammad Saalim, Saleha Resham, Sobia Manzoor, Hassam Ahmad, Tariq Ali Bangash, Amir Latif, Shahla Jaleel. "IL-22 in hepatocyte's survival of Pakistani patients with end stage liver disease: an insight into IL 22 mediated hepato-regenerative pathway", Molecular Biology Reports, 2019 Publication	<1%

<1 %

45	Submitted to University of Birmingham Student Paper	<1%
46	Submitted to University of Liverpool Student Paper	<1%
47	jco.ascopubs.org Internet Source	<1%
48	ses.library.usyd.edu.au	<1%
49	Submitted to Bishop Kenny High School Student Paper	<1%
50	Cheorl-Ho Kim. "Glycobiology of Innate Immunology", Springer Science and Business Media LLC, 2022 Publication	< 1 %
51	Submitted to International Islamic University Malaysia Student Paper	< 1 %
52	microbialcellfactories.biomedcentral.com	<1%
53	Syed Ali Nawaz, Dost Muhammad Khan, Salman Qadri. "Brain Tumor Classification Based on Hybrid Optimized Multi-features Analysis Using Magnetic Resonance Imaging Dataset", Applied Artificial Intelligence, 2022 Publication	< 1 %

54	Tonmoy Hossain, Fairuz Shadmani Shishir, Mohsena Ashraf, MD Abdullah Al Nasim, Faisal Muhammad Shah. "Brain Tumor Detection Using Convolutional Neural Network", 2019 1st International Conference on Advances in Science, Engineering and Robotics Technology (ICASERT), 2019 Publication	<1 %
55	docplayer.net Internet Source	<1 %
56	dspace.cuni.cz Internet Source	<1 %
57	Jia-Wei Wang, Song-Quan Wang, Zhuo-Yi Wu, Qi Liu, Qing Yuan, Hong-Qing Cai, Jing-Hai Wan. "L1 cell adhesion molecule high expression is associated with poor prognosis in surgically resected brain metastases from lung adenocarcinoma", Clinics, 2022 Publication	<1 %
58	bmcinfectdis.biomedcentral.com	<1 %
59	mce.nust.edu.pk Internet Source	<1 %

<1 %



62	Karovic, O "Toxic effects of cobalt in primary cultures of mouse astrocytes", Biochemical Pharmacology, 20070301 Publication	<1%
63	Submitted to The University of Manchester Student Paper	<1%
64	bpspubs.onlinelibrary.wiley.com	<1%
65	deepblue.lib.umich.edu Internet Source	<1%
66	diva-portal.org	<1%
67	escholarship.org	<1%
68	lucris.lub.lu.se	<1%
69	nulivscience.com	<1%
70	publications.aston.ac.uk	<1%
71	pure.manchester.ac.uk Internet Source	<1%

72	www.biorxiv.org	<1 %
73	www.genome.jp Internet Source	<1%
74	www.ijraset.com Internet Source	<1%
75	"Pulmonary Vasculature Redox Signaling in Health and Disease", Springer Science and Business Media LLC, 2017 Publication	<1%
76	Abdurrahim Kocyigit, Eray Metin Guler, Murat Dikilitas. "Chapter 3 Role of Antioxidant Phytochemicals in Prevention, Formation and Treatment of Cancer", IntechOpen, 2018 Publication	<1%
77	Giorgio Lenaz. "STRUCTURE AND ORGANIZATION OF MITOCHONDRIAL RESPIRATORY COMPLEXES: A NEW UNDERSTANDING OF AN OLD SUBJECT.", Antioxidants and Redox Signaling, 09/09/2009 Publication	<1%
78	Giuseppe Filomeni. "GSH, Sulfur Amino Acids, and Apoptosis", Glutathione and Sulfur Amino Acids in Human Health and Disease, 06/08/2009 Publication	<1%

79	acervodigital.ufpr.br		<1 %
80	citeseerx.ist.psu.edu		<1%
81	dr.library.brocku.ca		<1%
82	dspace.nm-aist.ac.tz		<1%
83	elifesciences.org		<1%
84	eprints.lancs.ac.uk		<1%
85	kclpure.kcl.ac.uk		<1%
86	kups.ub.uni-koeln.de		<1%
87	mdpi-res.com		<1%
88	mural.maynoothuniversity.ie	Ž	<1%
89	openrepository.aut.ac.nz		<1%
90	portlandpress.com		<1%

91	pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov Internet Source	<1%
92	rupress.org Internet Source	<1%
93	unsworks.unsw.edu.au Internet Source	<1%
94	www.bmrat.org	<1%
95	www.physiology.org	<1%
96	www.researchgate.net	<1%
97	www.researchsquare.com	<1%
98	Malik, Uzma, Aneela Javed, Amjad Ali, and Kashif Asghar. "Structural and functional annotation of human FAM26F: A multifaceted protein having a critical role in the immune system", Gene, 2016. Publication	<1%
99	"Biology of Pericytes – Recent Advances", Springer Science and Business Media LLC, 2021 Publication	<1%

100	"The Tumor Microenvironment", Springer Science and Business Media LLC, 2010 Publication	<1 %
101	Hilal Ahmad Mir, Roshia Ali, Umar Mushtaq, Firdous A. Khanday. "Structure-functional implications of longevity protein p66Shc in health and disease", Ageing Research Reviews, 2020 Publication	<1 %
102	Mahmoud S. Alghamri, Brandon L. McClellan, Margaret S. Hartlage, Santiago Haase et al. "Targeting Neuroinflammation in Brain Cancer: Uncovering Mechanisms, Pharmacological Targets, and Neuropharmaceutical Developments", Frontiers in Pharmacology, 2021 Publication	<1%
103	repository.up.ac.za	<1 %

Exclude quotes On Exclude bibliography On Exclude matches

< 6 words